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Abstract
Rediscovering Free Blacks

n Somerse County, MD. ., 653-18623
T t o« v, MD., 1663-1863

From the first davs f zettlement by non-native-American
pioneers, free blacks counted themselves among the inhabitants of
Somerset County, part of Marvliand's Eastern Shore. The most well-
documented of these free black settlers was Anthony Johnson who

=

moved into Somerset Countv from neighboring Accomack County, on
Virginia's Eastern Shore. Jchnson had owned nearly 1,000 acres of
land in Virginia, but moved his familv into Marvland during the
first wave of settlement, thus establishing a tradition of free
black land cwnership and presence in the new county. Other free
black families also moved into the area, owning varving amounte of
tand. Generally, the free black residents tried to fit into the
social and cultural arena established by the dominant white
culture: land ownership, self-sufficiency, church membership and

even slave-ownership. Although African cultural identity survived

‘

in the slave portion cof the population, and networks of free black
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support existed, acceptance of the norms sgef bv the successful

a strong incentive for free blacks to identify
with that culture and society

Generally, in the seventeenth century and early eighteenth,
the county court svstem 1in Somerset County showed special concern
that c¢contracts were fulfilled legally, and that morality be

constantly checked - especiallv sexual conduct. Free blacks who
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had dealings with the court over contracts, and who could prove

o

that the contract they held had been violated, won their ¢

m

s5es.

-

o

The court was relatively color blind as long as the case contained
the clear-cut legal concept of the sanctity of the contract. In
morality cases, punishments for any woman who bore a child out of
wedlock were meted out liberally. but a white woman who bore the
child of a black glave was Ttreated more harshly, emphasizing the
implied inferiority of blacksz, and the negative connotation of
black/white sexual unions. Contractual and morality cases made up
the vast bulk of all court caseg during those early decades, and
free blacks rarely appeared as defendant or plaintiff in more
gserious c¢riminal cases.

Slaves who dreamed of entering the ranks of the free black

population usually had to relyv on the good will of their owners to

release them into freedom. Skilled craftsmen or exceptionally
clever workers were often hired out by their master to neighbors

who paid for their labor, and the slave was usually permitted to

of his earnings. Some slaves managed to buy their own

manumisgsion by saving their earnings and paving prices for their

freedom ranging from the nominal one cent to several hundred pounds
or dollars. However, the majoritv of slaves who became free men or

women were manumitted because of a Specia

fod

relationship with their

owners. A few people in Somerset Countyv were moved bv kinship,

Gious or political sentiment to free slaves, but most cited the

hard work and lovalty of the gi: as the reacson for manumissicn.

3

Az the free black population grew, by means of manumission and

fos)



natural increase, opportunities for
the gpecter of poverty and ever-increasing legal repression emerged
for the free black residents of Maryvland's Eastern Shore.

Church records often reveal facets of free black 114

sources. Somerset Parish, the Anglican parish

il

w-'

ablighed in 1692 as one of the "official

T

parishes in Marvland,

maintains exceptional records from an early date, and both free

blacks and slaves figure intc the complicated history of the
. Both slaves and free blacks were baptised, married and
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“hurch from its earliest davs, but full-fledged

incorporation into the life
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the Civil War. Slave masters apparently did not force their
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patrons for their slaves who c¢hose to have dealingsg with the

church. Somerset Parvish clergy were varvingly active and passive
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about administering ~ites of the church to its black member
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and some defied the nineteenth-centur law prohibiting sla
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marriages by uniting slave couples as well as mixed slave and free
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chureh  members and  hierarchy
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encomnpacsed either end of o/political spectrum, and all

stances in between: some viewed slavery as God-ordained, and some

worked for immediate manumissicn, some were colonizationists, and

members, whether free or slave, went from legs restricted to mor

and the nation lurched toward Civil War.
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Because GSomerset County is an isolated region of the
country and was settled and inhabited bv a small number of persons
who originated from the British Islez, their surnames are easily

traced, and, 1in some cases are unigue. There are a few distinctily

"hlack" surnames in  Somersoet County, which have no white
counterparts, but in most c¢aseg, the names of free blacks are
indistinguishable from those of their white neighbors Most freed

slaves obviously adopted the surname of their former masters in

names have both white and black

Somerset County, and most
branches.
Ante-bellum Somerset Countyv was a world which was both

nterested in reform, and determined t¢ maintain the gtatus quo.

FEconomic hardships abounded; residents struck out for unsettled
western lands; slaves were sold in the town square, and steam boats
ran across the Chegapeake Bay. Somerset Countv free blacks faced

an uncertain future, sharpened by tightening controls on both slave

and free black life. Social mobility was a two-edged sword: not

only could slaves hope for freedom, free men might sink into the
dread of slavery. Both sclave and free black families risked

imprisonment and hardship to maintain family ties, and slave buyers
set up shop in local hotels. Many of the white ruling elite held
on to slavery practices until the bitter end of the (i

while the vast majority of free blacks 1in the area rejected

ot

overtures to resettle in African homelands, preferring to strive
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for the ideal held out for them that "all men were created equal".



By 1820 a unique free black community existed in western
Somerset County, one in which land-owning black residents

encouraged others to join the community for reasons of gelf-

area, white and

[¢h)

sufficiency, safety and securityv. Generallv in th
black farmers lived on neighboring tracts of land, forming a

de
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racially mixed societv of small land h rs. However,. 650

=

free blacks appeared in the 1820 census records, living in a

-

community unofficially known as "Santo Domingo". Several free
hlack women and men had begun buving land early in the nineteenth

century from white landowners who gtill lived in the region.

sl
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Relationships seemed peaceful for all involved. ~haps the
regidents of Santo Domingo formed their own "domestic colonization

add lived in the

et
....

society" for mutual benefit. Since manv of them
county for manyv decades, the chance to start a new life in Africa
did not appeal to them as practical, but living in a protected
community did. Manv residents of Santo Domingo owned livestock,
houses, land, or businesses, and manufacturing concerns also

exiasted, revealing a complex world of opportunity and perseverance.

Unravelling the cocial, economic, religious and communal world of

=5

free blacks in Somerset County, Marvliand s a complex and on-gocing
task; however, the rich historv of survival against heavy odds

ies out for the telling and retelling, for discoveryv and

rediscovery, for investigation and understanding.



Introduction

Rediscovering Free Blacks

In Somers

Mary

set County,

Marvliand, 1663 -1863

0. Klein

Upon the realization that a significant number of free black
persons  had lived din Somerset County, Maryvland, since the
foundations of the county in 1666, guestions about their
significance in a three-tiered societv began to arise. Who were
these people? How did they fare in a society composed of a white
majority, a significant slave population, and free blacks? How
were they treated legally and practicallyv through the centuries?

How did thev maintain theirx

persong of color? How were they
Throughout this paper

referring to free

freedom 1in

the te

persons of color.

a constricting world for

be discovered, or rediscovered?

e "free black" will be used when

rm

The contemporary public record

used that term more often than anv other, and trving to use current
terminologv became strained and artificial. Popular usage may
change throu the vears, but historical references remain

constant.

The public record contained

although

Often free

b 1

a wealth of information concerning

at Ttimes tThat information proved
blacks were indicated with that

notation beside a name, and sometimes "fres negro” was used;
howevery, in a of cases, no notation was made at
all. Only bv knowing that a certain person wag actually a free

vi.



black person (from previocus documentation) could the information be

applied. Family names became important, as did family historv.

ct

Buried factz had to be dug from census records, tax lists, cour
documents and church records. Questions arose, and many remained
unanswered. Non-public records containing information concerning
free blacks were scarce. A few store ledgers mertioned free black
customers, but no diaries or memoirs were discovered which had be
written bv free black persons. Manumission records and wills
sometimes detailed the reasons owners gave glaves their freedom,
and freedom certificate records described the appearance of the
certificate holders. How free blacks saved enough money to buy
land or to purchase the freedom of family members remained
guestions only partially answered, since discovering the skills or
professions held by free blacks proved difficult. Onlv a few
notations of occupation were made in official records, and some
hints as to skill could be gleaned from descriptions of injuries,
or tools bought or sold.

The lives of free black persons who lived in Somerset County
from the seventeenth century until the beginning of the Civil War
contained elements of success, failure, fear, accomplishment,
digaster, hard work and insecurity. Yet this group of wvpeople

between true freedom and slaveryv survived, grew, prospered

and continued. Their story is one of courage, defiance of odds,

e
anac

storv  that should be told to their

162

nevseverance, and a
descendants, as well as to their neighbors in Somerset County and

bevond.



Somerset County, Marvland, was c¢reated 1in 1666, by a

proclamat

of the Lord Proprietary of the province of Marvland,

5

Cecil, Lord Baltimore. Lying on the Eastern Shore of the state and

=

named after Lady Mary 8Somersett, the county stretched from the
Atlantic Ocean to the Chesapeake Bay, and from the line with
Virginia on the south to what 1is now Delaware on the north.

Although white men had traded with the native Indians in

ot
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vicinity since about 1620, there had been no permanent settlement
of the area. Tt was not until the 1660's that settlement was

encouraged on several fronts. A boundary feud hetween Virginia and

Marvland redgai

their Fastern Shore properties, encouraged Lord

3

Baltimore to entice permanent settlers into the area of the

peninsula he claimed as part of Marvland. Also plaving into the

d

hands of those encouraging settlement of Marvland's Eastern Shore,
was a Virginia law passed in 1660 which forbade any more Quakers to
enter the colony, and requiring anvone holding to that faith to be
removed. Quakers on Virginia's Eastern Shore saw a chance for
freedom of worship in Marvland, and a rovision for free land
called other pioneers to settle a few miles north of Virginia on
the FEastern Shore of Marvland.

Among the first group of settlers to Somerset County were
Quakers escaping persecution, Anglicans and Presbyterians; and
these three groups remained the dominant religious influences on

Shore until the introduction of Methodism in the

o
—

eighteenth century. The vast majority of free settlers were of the

e

ortable means: planters, farmers,

h

some of com

viii.



traders, small manufacturers, merchants, and a few professionals.
Many indentured servants werse among the first emigrants; and
families instead of single men were prevalent. Interestingly,
there is no mention made of slaves among the settlers, but there
were free Dblacks. The names of the first settlers were
overwhelmingly English, Scottish, Welsh and Irish, with a few
French names interspersed. These hearty men and women had survived
their first difficult vears in Virginia, and were seasoned to the
hot, humid conditions of the Eastern Shore. They had adapted to

the

0il, and to the way of 1ife, and had proven to be survivors in

wn

a world where early death was commonplace. They were apparantly

tolerant of each others' religious practices, which was rather

ou

uncommon; and they worked to make their venture successful an
capable of being passed on to their children. The names of those
settlers are gstill very much in evidence in Somerset County:

Boston, Ccoculbourne., Bozma

i

n, Jones, White, Beauchamp, Whittington,

and Lavfield. Their legacy was passed on o their children, and

three hundred yvears later, their story survives.
ix.



1. Free Black Pioneers
The origins of a free black population in Somerset Coun
Maryland, can be traced to the origins of the county itself. The

first permanent non-Indian settlers to the area came up to Marvland

in 1662 from neighboring Accomack County, Virginia, under a

provision by Lord Baltimore offering free land. Two of the
original claimants for land, Randell Revell and Ann Toft, claimed
as headrights An 1y and Mary Johnson, along with their son John

and his wife Susannah. The Johnson family were free blacks who had

»...

also lived in Accomack County. The ohn family has become

"famous" in the c¢ircles of Colonial Chesapeake historians because

hey were apparentl one of the first documented free black

bt

families to settle on the Eastern Shore.-

It is documented that Anthony Johnson came into Virginia in
1621. He was probably never a slave, but entered the colony as an
indentured servant of Richard Bennett. Because the record is

unclear, no positive proof that Johnson was an indentured servant

C_J

ife can be fo however, c¢ircumstantial

ot
fnd s

and not a slave for

-~

evidence 1s strong that he was the "Antonio the negro" who was a
passenger on the ship "James" which dovke in Virginia in 1621.
Richard Bennett owned a tobacco plantation on the James River, and
Antonio worked for him there at the time of the March 22, 1622,
Tndian attack on the vicinity., which dincluded the Warresquioke
plantation. The massive Indian raid claimed the lives of over 350

settlers, and more than fifty of them had 1lived on Bennett's

Warresquicke. BSomehow Antonio, along with four others, managed to

\J
N

162 when a count of Bennett's

-

survive the vicious attack.



servant assels was taken, Antonio was among the mere twelve
remaining people, along with the recently arrived "Mary a Negro

1

woman", the only female among the servants. She had arrived in

o

1622 on the "Margaret and John" and later became the wife of

[»)

Antonio, appearing on a headright claim of John Upton in 1635 as a

~
/

married couple.”

At some point in their earlv married life Anthony and Mary

moved over to the Eas

i

tern Shore of Virginia, possibly under the

auspices of their original emplover Richard Bennett. Bennett had

2

become governor of Virginia and frequented the Eastern Shore for

i
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to vigit his family. His daughter
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official reasons

Elizabeth had married Charles Scarborough, the eldest son of Edmund

Scarborough, the famous (cor infamous) landowner and political
activist on the Eastern Shore. The land patented by Anthony and
Mary Johnson was in  the same neighborhood as the Charles
Searboroughs. The Bennett family and the Johnson family apparently
continued on friendly and respected terms with each other, because
Anthony and Mary named one of their children Richard, and Governor

Bennett gent a gift of a black cow to his namesake Richard

Jometime after the Johngons arrived on Virginia's Eastern

re, theyv began to accumulate land and cattle. Together with

four children, two sons Richard and John and two daughters,
one of whom was named Jone, the Johnson family had, in sone
instances by claiming headrights of imported persons, accumalated

substantial land holdings. By the 1650's, the family's land



gqualified as a plantation of neariyv 1,000 acres on "great
Nuswattock Creek". Anthony had been given a patent for 250 acreg
in 1651, and hiz son John acquired the adjoining 550 acres.
Anthony's son Richard patented an additional 100 acres next to his
brother's and father's land, and Jone was given 100 acres by the
Indian chieftain Deabedanba. In 1653 Johnson presented a petition
before the Accomack County court which asked for a tax exemption
because fire had devastated his holdings. At that time the court
reported that he "had been in the country above 30 vearsg".”

An interesting aspect of the life of the pioneering free black
man, is that Anthony Johnson owned black servants himself. In
being granted a land patent in 1650, Johnson claimed five people as
headrights, among them a man named John Gesorroro, whose surname
has also been identified as Casor, Cassagh, Cazara and Cassadow.
Apparently this John Casor saw an opportunity to gain his own
freedom in 1653, because he took his master to court claiming that
{(Casor) was being held against his own wishes and contrary to
his seven-vear indenture. Anthony Johnson swore that he had no
knowledge of any such agreement and "had ve Negro for his life".
After the incident, Johnson finallv agreed to free Casor and give

e

him freedom dues of corn and clothing. Strangely, Casor never

-

ef

-t

the Johnson family, and travelled with them when they moved north
L
into #fomevrset Countv, Marviand, where he lived out his life.”
Thie records of early Virginia are silent regarding the reasons

Anthony Johnsen and most of his family decided to relocate to

R

{ [:v

Somerset County, Marviand in 1662, vel transported



them as headrights. But Anthony Johnson sold most of his land,
leaving just fifty acres for his son ichard who staved in
Virginia. Perhaps Johnson, like others who were leaving Virginia
for better opportunities in Marvland, saw a better future in the
adjoining colony. Johnson took with him his herd of fourteen

, his wife, son, daughter-in-law and his

"servant" John Casor and set out across the Pocomoke River .’
In 1666 Anthony Johnson leased 200 acres of Somerset County,

Marvland, land from Stephen Horsey in a two-hundred vear lease:

Horsey had patented that same piece of land and called it "Tonv's

Vinevard" a few months earlier, probably with the intent of leasing

i8]

it to Anthony Johnson. Anthony Johnson owed Horsey 1800 pounds of
tobacco in 1666, which may have been the price of the land; and the
leace agreement described Johnson as a "planter of Manonokin", one
of the land divisions in the new county.7

After Anthony Johnson died sometime prior to June 1670,

Stephen Horsey

ny

od "Tony's Vinevard" to Jchnson's widow Mary and
her sons for ninetv-nine vears, algo providing that the land would
pass on to their heirs. The rent was tTo be one ear of Tndian corn
veariyv. Mary Johnson made a gift of cattle to her grandchildren

Anthonv

Al v, John's gson, and Richard's children Francis and Richard in
1672. At the sgame Time Mary gave her szon John her power of

attorney, with her faithful servant John Casor (this time spelled

ot

Cazara) serving as a witness o the transaction. Since Casor

served as witness to a legal document and used both a given name

2

regarded as a slave.



Johnson's son,

land Angola®™ -

the family's African heritage.

to have moved

the precedent of free black

established in Somerset County.

an appellation
Fvent
on to Delaware oy pos

land

John junior, bought a piece of

suggestive perhaps of

uvally the Johnson family se

u“z

em!:

sibly to Dorchester County, bhut

ownership had been well

In 1682 John Puckham, a Monie Indian, was baptized by The Rev.
John Huett, the Anglican priest in the county, and a month later
the clergyman married Puckham and "Jone Johnson, negro", probably
a granddaughter of Anthony Johnson. The Puckham family thus became
established as another of the first free black families on the
Eastern Shore, a family, which like many of its white counterparts,

P

continues today.

The Somerset county record is silent on the lives of John and
'ne Puckham until the 1698 court convened. Apparently John
Puckham had died, and Jone was unable to care for her three voung
sons, because Jone Puckham asked the court to apprentice her son
Abraham, who was only three vears of age, to Adrian Gordin until
Abraham reached the age of twenty-one. In 1699, Jone indentured
her sons Richard and John to Benjamin Cottman, jr., until thev were
both twentv-one vears of age. Richard was ten and John was
thirteen at the time of their apprenticeship. No specific trade
was menticned in the court action, so probably Cottman tocok the
bovs 1 to work for him on hisg plantation, and Gordin kept little
Alexander until he could alsc work on his farm.
The next mention of Richard Puckham appeared in the tax lists

o
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. Richard was 1iving in the househcld of the Reverend

’,
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Alexander Adams, the rector of Stepney and Somerset Parishezs. The
rector had accumulated a large tract of land on the north side of
Wicomico Creek, next to Richard Cottman, to whom Richard Puckham
had been indentured, and across the water from "Tony's Vinevard",
the home place of Richard's mother Jone Johnson. Apparently the
Johnson family kept close ties with the Anglican church, since John
Puckham had been baptized before his marriage to Jone Johnson, and
Alexander Adams' household included Richard Puckham for several
vears. In 1723 and 1724 Richard was included as a taxable in Mr.

Adams' household, but was miscing in 1725. In 1727 Richard was
listed in Pocomoke Hundred, but in 1730 he was back with the Adams
family.I

By 1736 Richard Puckham had set up his own household in
Manokin Hundred, near Wicomicc Hundred. In the 1744 tax 1list
Richard's household included his son John, who to be included as a
taxable had to over the age of sixteen. As the vyears advanced,
more c¢hildren were added to Richavrd's taxables: Richavrd, Jr.,
Matthew, Samuel, David and Solomon, making a good-sized work force
for farm labor. The name of Richard's wife never appeared on his
tax notations, which gives some indication that she was either a
white woman or a free mulatto whose mother was black or mulatto.
In 1725 Marvland had passed a law making all free Negro women
taxable, as well as free mulatto women whose mothers were white.
White women and free mulatto women who were the daughters of Negro

or mulatto wmothers were tax exempt. Not only was this law
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concerned with raising revenues,

it was obviously concerned with
social control of white women, :
relationships with black men.
Richard

impesing a double punishment on
Puckham also

had & daughter Mary, apparently

after her great-grandmother Mary Johnson, who

1743. As was common in colonial
"o

considered "in contempt

named
appeared in court in
Marvland, "I 1
and ve evill

a
example of

inform on womey

of

bearing" was
of her Majesty's good laws of the province
bearing
another

offence”, and neighbors were encouraged to
race

children out of wedlock, or if the baby was
than the mother. Daniel

Mary Puckham's case
father.

Jones

1

was
and Mary decli

ined to

the
cash:

informer in
disclose the
She was fined 30 shillings by the court, which
and Joy Hobbs,

a0

name of the
she paid in

male planter of Somerset County, undertook

to be Mary's security additional L40. The

that it was not i any way

! A it

s child.-

Yy responsible for

¢

court made it

Mary Puckham appeared in
in

the raising of
Somerset County tax records in 1743
Manokin Hundred with her brother John, and
Richard.
agreement

plantation

1

in 1746 with her
On the fifth of January of 1746, Mary had entere
with George Wilson
"Conclusion”

in
for
This

~1

16

11U .

which

o

she

seven vears beginning on
rental property

rented h
Gardens,

ot
i

January
included "all

woods, all ways and water

A€

courses"
twenty-five bushels of Indian

12,
houses, orchards,
, with the rent to be
corn per vear. Another part
agreement wvas that Mary was to provide Wilson with "two hundred
fifty Loggs to be mawled"

of the

and
the first vear in place of the corn, and



he in turn would be "oblidging himself to find nails the next vear
to c¢over the Dwelling house on the gsaid plantation”. In an

exchange of labor and commodities, George Wilson gave Mary Puckham
a chance to try her hand at farming, apparently without a husband,
and he agreed to give supplies of difficult to find nails needed
for the repair of the house. There is no indication whether Mary
renewed her lease with Wilson, but the 1759 tax list found her

Matthew and

Solomon, as well as a sixteen vear-old Priscilla, perhaps the child
she had borne in 1742. Iin 1770 Priscilla Puckham wag also
convicted of bastard bearing, with the father of the child, Isaac
Coulbourn, willing to pav a double fine for her crime.

Richard Puckham, s1r., apparently died sometime soon after
1754, since the last mention of him in the record was a January
for

sale to James Polk of some cattl the zum of L7. In that deed,

o
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Richard was described as "planter”, even though he apparently never
owned outright the land he farmed. His sons however, did become
lTandowners. chard jr., John, and Matthew each owned land in the

county, although each sold his land, in some cases to repay debts

)

sed
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bl

owed to other citizens of Somerset County. Matthew Puckham

[
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land "Chance™ for [ifty Charles Redding for a mere 5

ke

Vears
shillings in 1764, and in the same yvear deeded "Content" to Joseph
Dashiell. Later in 1771, Matthew sold "Content" outright to

Redding for LS5 for the five-acre tract. Richard and his

7

brother Solomon were sued for nearly L30 by William Gaddes in 1769

e

and by Wilson Heath in 1771, which probably prompted Richarv

b



gell land in 1769 and 1772, and some of his precious livestock in

1767 and 1771. 1In these court cases both Richard and Solomon were

-~

0o as "Carpenters", so0 they must have had an additional
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skill asz well asg farming. Struggling farmers with small land
holdings were at the mercy of weather, poor crops and marginal
assets and could easily slide into debt, forcing them to sell off
meager assets to Keep their heads above water. Many free blacks
did not possess a skill to act as insurance against their being
forced into total poverty, but the Puckham brothers did possess a
hedge against starvation by acquiring a marketable gkill which did
not reqguire the ownership of land. The only Puckham brother who

seemed to be able to make a profit at land ownership was John. He

jai)

bought a thirtv-two acre tract in 1804 for the price of 15, and

1
0

of property for $300 four vears later.”’

N

z01d the same piece

¢

T

Jone Johnson Puckham's voungest son Abraham appeared in th
1724 tax list in the household of Jacob Crouch in Wicomico Hundred.
The preceding vear Abraham was taken to court for the recovery of

}o,

a debt of L2, six shillings, one pence, which he owed to the estate

b

of Robert Crouch, apparently the father of the Jacob Crouch with
whom he was living. In that court case Abraham was referred to as

a planter of Stepney Parish", although no land indenture

4]

hag been located. The term "planter" seems to have

been used to denote anvone who made a 1iving at farming, whether or

not he actually owned larnd, not Jjust successful plantation

owners.-:

Tn 1727 Abraham Puckham was 1in the household of Philip
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Covington, where he apparently met hig future wife Honour. In 172

there were counter-suits between Covington and Honour, in which sh

T

was veferred to as "Honour Puckham wife of Abraham Puckham in

ommon form." Honour's sult against Covington stated that she had

"

g
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erved a certain Philip Covington part of her term of vears for

&3]

which she wasg transported into this Country being the last of the

it

said time, and that Covington had not paid her freedom dues”. The
court ordered Covington to pav the freedom dues "az To such
servants is allowed by Law". No other sguits were filed, so the

Puckhams and the Covingtons must "~ o settled their differences.

The court's reference to Honour and Abraham's union as "in common

-t
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form" mav indica that Honour, who was probably white, could not
legally be married to a black man, as stipulated by a 1717 law
prohibiting interrvacial marriadges. Another possibility is that

Honour Puckham ("Honour" being a common name given among Quakers)

wag a Quaker woman. If Honcur and Anthony had been married in a

Quaker ceremony, their union would not been recognized by the
Established church, and therefore by the courts. Abraham again
appeared in the 1738 tax list as 1living in Nanticcke Hundred, north

of Wicomico Hundred, then disappeared from the record.-’

As with manv of the early free black families in Somerset
ounty, the Puckham family suffered setbacks and worked for
successes, but they managed to maintain their freedom in a society

where the threat of slavery was alwavs present.

Driggus {variously spelled Driggers, Drighouse, Driggous)
family history in Somerset County i1s a curious one which began with
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a black man in Northampton County, Virginia, named Manuell Driggus.
Manuell Driggus (who called himself in official records Manuel
Rodriggus, and to whom others referred as Emmanuel) made a contract
with his master Francis Pott 1in 1645 to indenture Driggus' two
daughters, Jane and Elizabeth, with Pott promising to feed and
c¢lothe them well, and to "use my best endeavor to bring them up in

a

yve feare of God and in ve knowledge of our Savior Christ Jesus".

Later, in 1652, Driggus bought the remainder of Jane's contract

from Potts.-

Driggus was subsequently mentioned in the will of George
Williams in 1667:

To Manuell Driggus, Negro, for his care and trouble in tending

me in my sickness, the wages due me for 11 months service on

the ship "Louis Increase” of Bristoll, my chest, and all other
goods belonging to me in Northampton County in Virginia.®”’

Ag attested to by hisg earlier transactions, Manuell had some
means of earning a livelihood, and with the legacy from George
Williams, wanted fto ensure his children financial stability and
freedom. Manuell was either married to or had children bv at least
three women, onhe of whom, Elizabeth, was white. In 1673, Manuell,
who desceribed himself as "Negro", insured that the children who had
a white mother, and were free, had means of support by deeding them
black mare colt" and all her future increase while the
Tren were still in their winority. Since stock was worth
relatively more Than land at that time and in that place, the gift

of a horse allowed his c¢hildren Mary and Deverick Driggus some

91

of life choice and financial stability.®
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anuell Driggus' son Deverick {or Deverax or Devoraux)

11

1



entered Somerselt County as a headright claimed bv Stephen Cc
which began a puzzling chapter in the life story of Devoraux
Driggus. Although his named appeared many times in official
Somerset County records, there was nevey any notation that he was
negro or mulatto. Because his mother was white, and his father,
with the name "Rodriggus", may have been at least partly of Spanish
extraction, perhaps Devoraux infiltrated white society by passing
az a white man, a possibility in a pioneer community. In 1689 two-
hundred thirty-eight of Somerset Countyv's landowning elite, many of
whom had strong affiliations with the Anglican or Pregbyterian
charch, signed a loyalty oath to King William and Queen Mary

following the Glorious Revolution in England. Ameng  the

signatories wag "Devoraux Drigas"™. He also ran with a particularly

"fast" c¢rowd, and appeared in court occasionally with Captain

()

ard Hammond, who was a dealer in land and fast living. TIn 1705
Hammond was brought into court by Enoch Griffith for carrving on an
open affair with Griffith's wife. In testimony, Griffith told of
finding his wife Janc and Hammond "in naked bed" ogether in
Griffith's own house. After an angry and heated argument, Edward
Hammond, jr. and Devoraux Driggug, who were also in the house, took
Mrs. Griffith's child to the Hammond house. The long depositions
told of repeated instances of Hammond and Jane Griffith openly
flaunting theiy affairvr, with Griffith being forced to sleep at his
neighbor's home because Hammond refused to get out of Griffith's
hed. Hammond openly defied c¢hurch authorities by telling the

rector of Snow Hill parish, when he came to confront Hammond about



hehavior, to get out of his house, and that he would "as soon

r"‘w

go to heaven or hell, it made no difference to him"

disturbance to the propriety of Somerset County behavior became

s
At

public scandal, and Devoraux Driggus was closgsely associated with

Hammond. "

Hammond and Driggus were also prosecuted in 1706 for public
drunkennessz and Sabbath Breaking. None of the defendants were
ide by race, and it is asgsumed that theyv were all whi en,

except for Driggus. Devoraux Driggus apparently never owned land,

lenry Bishop's land, "in the right
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but prior to hisg death
of" Bishop's orphaned children. Driggus probably rented the
acreage from Bishop's estate, and when an inventory wag taken
shortly after his death in 1709, his net worth amounted To just
over L37. Inciuded in the inventory were cows, sheep, horses, a
flax spinning wheel and two guns, indicating the tvpical Somerset
County small farm patte of divergsity in farming, instead of

dependence on tobacco. Devoraux Driggus had at least two children,

o

since his son, called Devoraux Driggus, jr., received a legacy in
1708 from his deceased sister's estate‘n

Deroraux Driggus remaing an enigma. How did he insinuate
himself into Somerset County society, without one mention being

made in the official records of hisg race? The records sometime

indicate race when naming free black residents, and sometimes the

~ely state the name without a racial reference. But
among the documents, mention is made of a particular person's race

often enough to make reasonable assumptions that cevtain people are

e
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considered "negro". However, in the case of Deroraux Driggus, with

no mentiocn of his rvace found in any document, whether deed, tax

list or court c¢ase, (where the c¢lerk was actuallyv present in
court), the assumption would be made that he was white. Did

ety assume that he was white, and did he just allow that

e

50C
assumption to continue? His descendants are not mentioned as negro

ither, although other branches of the Driggus family are. Perhaps
Devoraux Driggus believed that real success could only come by
becoming a member of the dominant white society, which he proceeded
to do.

The branch of the Driggus family definitely denoted as black
came into Somerset County from the Eastern Shore of Virginia
because of a rumor, instigated by people with a scheme to grab the
land holdings of free blacks, that all free blacks in Virginia were
going to bhe enslaved. Sarah Driggus emigrated with some of her

children along with Peter and Mary George, a free black couple also

from Northampton County. {Sarah's husband was Thomas Driggers,
half-brother *to Devoraux, but Sarah's family and the Georges

settled in Wicomico Hundred near Mary Johnson, widow of Anthony,
not near Snow Hill and Devoraux.) In 1688 "Sarah Driggers negro
woman, wife of Thomas Driggers negro" took Margaret Helder to court
complaining that Margaret "hath stolen and purlovned several
things which dinclude ribbon, nutmegs, a c¢hild's coat and a
bracelett". Peter George "negro of Wicomico Hundred" undertook to
give surety of 15 for Sarah, and testified on her behalf. Mary

George, Mary Johnson and Sarah Driggers, jr., also testified, but

fod
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the jury thought the evidence "wholly disagreeing 1in their
depositions" and found Margaret Holder not guilty.®
At the end of the seventeenth century, free Llack women wervre

exempt from paying taxes in Marvliand, but the burden of prool of

their free status was laid upon them. I 1689, Sarah Drigger:s
again appeared in c¢ourt, this time requesting tax exempti for

herself and "all the other Negroes", presumably Mary George, Sarah

gers, jr., and another Driggers daughter. The court ruled that
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"the four women be exempted and that the men pay taxes for this
vear, and that they bring a Certificate under the Minister's

where they formerly did live or word hound that they are free

Negroes and baptised. Thus the court, not prejudiced by Sarah
Driggers' former case, allowed the exemption on the word of the
free black c¢itizens, with a minimum of fuss and a reasonable

request for proof from their former place of residence.

c+
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Sarah Driggus eventually returned to he Fastern Shore of

Virginia, where her husband Thomas had remained. He died in 1694,
but she regained the land which had bheen usurped from her when she
fled to Somerset. Some members of Sarah's family chose to remain
in Somerset Countv, and a William Driggus, who may have heen the

grandson of Sarah, owned a one-hundred acre tract of land called

on to hisz son William in his

"Driggus Adventure", which he pas
1720 will. William senior's widow Jane was on the land in
Bogerternorton Hundred in 1724, and John Driggus occupied it from
1734-1740.%

Another free black family prominent in Somerset County, the



Game family, had its free origins with s¢lave parent Sambo and
Betty. Peter Doutv, a Somerset county slaveowner, freed several

of his bondsmen in his 1709 will, among them Richard Dunn who was

i

to have "one hog delivered to him and no more." Another of Douty's
aslaveg, Nannv,. was also to be free. She was to live with her

parents until she was twelve, then go tc Ann Colier, one cof Douty's
heirs, until she was thirtv-one, and then be freed. But Sambo and

Betty Game were singled out for special consideration:
It is my will that my negro man Sambo Gam and his wife Bettea
be free at my decease and that theyv have and to hold a parcel
of land of mine lving on the west side of ve creek known as
Tyaskin near the head during their lives and att their decease
to redown to Ann Colier and the said Sambo Gam shall have 2
cows & calves, 2 sows & pigs, 2 ewes, frving pan, one iron
pot, and nails to build a small housze and all ve clothing that
they have, boarding and provisions for one vear.. . and two 50

‘L

gallon casks of cider every vyear.®

Peter Douty did not specify the reason he set the Game fanily
up as gelf-gufficient farmers, but it is c¢lear that such was his
intent. The livestock, parcel of land, and even nails to build

their house, as well as a vear in which to get settled were all

;o as well 4 ¥
yrovided.  Because the land would revert to Ann Colier when Sambo
and Betty died, thev were not actually land owners, but like many
farmers on the FEastern Shore, tenants. Sambo Game appeared in the
tax lists of Somerset County as head of a household and landowner
in 1724 along with a slave named Grace and a hired servant named
Magnus Dickson., suggesting that Game was successful enough at his
venture into farming to have a slave and hire a helper. (Sambo
Game was erroneocusly listed asz wvhite in that tax list.) Bv 1730

the Game's son Robert appeared az a taxable in Sambo's household

-
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listed in the household of Fortune

L'LJ

and interestingly, Betty w:
Game, a woman who had a singulay history of her own. The
households were not next to ecach other but close by. In 1733 Zambo
was taxed on fiftv acres, and Robert and his wife Elender were
listed in a separate household. Fortune also had fifty acres and
Betty and Rose Game lived with her. What were the reasons for
Sambo and Betty living in separate households? Could there have
been any economic¢ advantage or did the older couple merely get
along better in separate housecholds? Perhaps the land holdings
were not contiguous, and the family felt that to retain possessic

they should live on each piece of land to avoid questions

()
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The evidence concernin ‘ortune Game was both mysterious and

[t

confusing. Her entrance into the world was a controversial one,

and her 1life began in difficult circumstances. In 1705 the

e

sntered into Somerset County Liber GI:

0]

"ollowing transaction was

The opinion of the Court is was bhorn of
the body of a white woman with George
Magee a white man, and that : o, and that
she be remanded in service until she i; = & thirty vears old
and that she [in] no way o

~ 3

In later rvecords, a group of free black women were veferred fo

"Magee alias Game" and "Magee or Game", 80 it appears that the

Fortune Gawme found in the tax records living with the matriarch of
the free black Game family and the unfortunate Fortune Magee were
the same person. 1t seems probable that the father of Fortune was

one of the men in The Game famil and that that family made her

part of their own, even before her thirtyv-one vears of service was



over.

the

Game fa
indentured

adopted the

Perhaps
mily.
servi

rat?

"sentence" with

society and forced into

tude because "s5in" of the mother, Fortune

1
Dy

modern practice of being known a dcuble name,

£

"Magee Game" Jhich practice followed for at least anothe:d
generation.

Of interest also is the tax record of Fortune Game In 1730
she was listed as the landowneir. and head of the household which
included Betty Game. However, in the column set aside to list th

sex of the

tax assessor

absent from
to tell if
someone else
confused
1740, For

r<
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was present
S
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sceveia

who lived
there two For
one male and
other? With
maller free

named

the house

she

i

Fortune are

mentioned,. the entry reads "unknown" Did the

erson Y
simply not know the sex of Fortune, who may have been

at the time of the census? Or was he unable

was male oy female? Or was the notation made by

transcribing the records who saw a blank space and was
about the name Fortune as to sex ? In any case, from 1733
tune was listed as male, head of the household, and
ifty acres of land. Alsc in 1733 Fortune Game appeared
according to her recognizance", so the court clerk, who

listed her as female. (The security for the

court,

.

;' fees™ was paid by a white Cannon Winright,

man,

Sambo Game.) The qguestion arises, were

tune Games living in Somerset County at the same time,
one female, who could have been confused with each

such a small of the county, and an even

bhlack population, s that there were two Gamesg

very small.”’
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Stepney Parish, orie  of the original thirty parishes

established in Maryland in 1692, was reqguired by law to

the births of evervone within the parish's geographical boundary.
Interestingly, the births of very few black persons or mulattoces
were actually recorded prior to the Revolution; only the nawes of
two families of free blacks c¢an be found: Dutton and Magee-Game.
Retween 1737 and 1751, two women by the name cof "Magee, alias Game"
registered the bivths of their children with the church
anthorities. "The mulattoc Sue, alias Sue Magee or Game" entered
Janney in 1746 and
James in 1750. Roge Game lived in the household of Fortune and

Betty CGame in the 1733 tax "The mulatto Rose or Rose

Magee or Game" registered the
and Isaac in 1751. Why these two women made the effort to register
their children'sg births with the parish,., when only one other black
family did so, remains a mystery. Perhaps the elusive Maudlin
Magee, mother of Fortune, was also taken in by the Game family at

the birth of her child, but continued to attend the parish church,

f"l

instilling in her c¢hild the importance of maintaining religiocu

Another fascinating branch of the free black Game family

helonged to Dr. Harryrv CGame. At the time of his manumission in 1750

by Mitohell Dashiell,

A i o
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to as "Negro Harry - known by
& 1
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e name of Doctor Harry, otherwise Harry Game", so obviously the
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practice of some gsorvt of medicine was the trademark for a few

slaves. Harry Game was probably related to the Sambo Game who was



freed by the 1709 will of Peter Douty. since Priscilla Dashiell,
the mother of Mitchell Dashiell, received zeveral legacies from

Priscilla willed to her

Peter Douty's will.
only son Mitchell, among other things, "two negros Harry and Tom",
and two vyearg later Mitchell Dashiell released Dr. Harry from
bondage. Apparently Mr. Day Scott had guaranteed Dv. Harry the 130
for hisg freedom, because that amount was pavable from S8Scott to
Dashiell within six months of Dr. Harrv's release. {(Day Scott also
sold land tco another member of the Game familyv, a woman also named
Betty Game in 1754.

By the 1753 tax assessment, "Dr. Harry and Harrv's Wife" were
listed in the Wicomico Hundred section of Somerset County. and in
1757 "Dockter Harry {Negro)" purchased from John Covington a 150

acre tract of land called "Covington's Choice" for "Seventy Pounds

o)

current money of Marvland . . . Paid by the said Dockter Harrv"

Harry Game had the skills to earn a livelihood which enabled him to
hecome a landowner, establish an independent household, and earn
the respect of both the black and white communities. Perhaps he

was the man referred to in a 1750 advertisement found in the

Marvland Gazette describing the services of a negro physician of

Somernset County. According to the advertisement, this phvsician
learned his skill from "an old skillful, experienced Guinea

Doctor", and was anxious to pass on his vast knowledge to a willing
apprentice for L50O. In a short commentary on the letter, the

editor of the Gazette waxed elocuent about the doctor and expounded

3]
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has been a slave, but is now free. It seems he was born in
the Countyy, and by some means obtained so good an Education,

as to learn Reading and Writing, which he improv'd at aLl
Opportunities, and of which he has made good use; for he was

and 1s remarkable for his Fidelity, Sobriety. and Honesty,
and has been for many Years a Communicant in the Parish where
he lives; and has 1liv'd a regular, Christian, blameless
life.

Whether the writer actually knew these things to be true, or was

merely setting the sgtage for the following advertisement 1is not
known. But if the man described is Dr. Harry, the evidence of his

ownn will points to the fact that he could not sign his own name.

The Game family were customers at a general store owned by the
Nelms familyv, and the accounts of Daniel and Jeremiah, sons of Dr.

Harry, may give some indication of their lifestyvle. Daniel ran up

i1l of over L10 in April of 1775, with purchases of fine white

o
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lining, a pair of s=cissors, several tyvpes of fabric, a gallon of
molasses, as well as a loan from Mr. Nelms of 13,7 shillings, plus
interest. Written at the bottom of Daniel's account was the
notation of April 15, "Which Dr. Harry promises to Pay". On the
Contra side of the ledger "Bv Cash paid by vour Father" was duly
entered. Even though Daniel was an adult, his father elected to
pay some of his bills. Jeremiah, on the other hand, did not ask

1

hisg father to help settle hig account of L7, 5 shillings, 10 pence,

but paid for it himself "By an allowance in the purchase of vour
.
land™ .=
In Harrv CGame's 1781 will, he left his plantation, including
"fencing, houses, Woods and Orchard and underwocd" to be divided
between his sons Daniel and Jeremiah, as well as "a Sow & Piggs" to

Charles Game, Dan !

el'e gon. Even iough Harry Game was trained as

[
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a doctor, he was illiterate, as attested to by his mark, a capital
H, on hig will. Dr. Harry entered into the world of the white
planter of Somerset County by achieving success by the gstandard of
the county. He was a plantation owner, enjoved a sufficient
medical practice to supplement his farm earnings, and joined the
ranks of slave ownergs. In 175%7 he petitioned the court to exXempt

him from paving taxes on "his Negro man called Tite, who ig ancient

%

& infirm and nct able tc labour"™. -

The pioneer free black families who inhabited Somerset Countv

o

ere a diverse group from differing backgrounds, each possessing
varving skills and ambitions Some, such as the Johnson family.
had never known slavery, while others, like the Games, had risen
from bondage into the ranks of free black society Anthony Johnson
had come 1into Somerset County seeking better opportunity for
himself and his family; Deveraux Driggous probably slipped into
white society by passing as a white man. Opportunities were not

closed in early Somerset for free black women, as exemplified by

jak

Maryv Puckham's independent lease of a plantation. Some free black
men, such as the Puckham brothers, learned a marketable trade, in
their case carpentrv, and freed themselveg from the dependence on
farming and land ownership. Dr. Harry Game made a living as a

doctor, and insured his children a zgtable future by providing them

with land and enough money to secure a headstart in life. Some
free black pioneers were small landowners and some were tenant
farmers, like many of their white contemporaries. Although the

4.

class of free blacks was tinv in early Somerset County, thev were



assured rvelative eqguality of copportunity along with most white
citizens, and probably saw success in terms of identifyving with the
white majoritv. Of coursce =

avery stocd for everything they were

tryving to put behind them, even though some of their own family

oo

members may have still been in bondage. and real security lay in
independence. Some free blacks achieved gelf-sufficiency and must

have been examples to those who were beginning the journev.
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Despite restrictions, Somerset Countv in the late

ot

early eighteenth centuries provided a place where free blac

ct

attempt success and where independence was within reach.



2.80MERSET COUNTY COURT EVIDENCE

Marvliand's county court records contain A wealth cf
information which may shed light on the position of free blacks in

society. Courts performed a varied list of functions,

I
Cr
hn
y,.J

which included levying taxes, and hearing most criminal and civil
cases instigated by the county's citizenry. Throughout the

Chesapeake area, county officials, such as sheriffs and justices,

were appointed rather than elected, but the state appointment
always of local men.

1

The legal position of free blacks in colonial Somerset County

wag similar to that of any other free c¢itizen. The only
restrictions imposed by law were those enacted long after *the

initial settlement of the countyv. A 1717 law prohibited free
negroes from testifving against white persong in court, and free
hblack women were not exempt from paving taxes; but genera
were few restrictions on free blacks which prevented them from

receiving the same legal treatment as white citizens. However, the

[N

n the county effectively could have blocked

P4

white majority

o

attempts of the few free blacks to assert their legal rights, if
relationships between whites and free blacks had been threatening.
The mere existence of a law providing free blacks with legal rights

did not mean that they were alwavs carried out in far-flung

counties throughout the state. The Capital c¢ity Annapolis was &
long way from Somerget Countv, and "de facto” mistreatment of a
D4



small minority would have been simple to carry out, despite "de
iz b4 i

"

jure" restrictions.
While there iz no known incidence of a free black landowner

holding office in colonial Somerset County, most of the white

5 of the county never held office either. Colonial
Chesapeake society was dominated by an elite few, who began their
careers with minor appe ~tments, and worked their way through the
gaining ever-increasing authority and responsibility.
White men who were minor landholders might serve on a juryv, but the
great majority of them never held any office, nor had much cof a

chance to do so. In that rec . free blacks were not in a very

different category than most of their white neighbors.

There is very little evidence of prejudicial treatment of
black citizens in colonial Somerset court records. The laws were
observed, and the cases heard on individual merit. In some cases,
he black resident won the cage in court, and at other times he
lost, which was no different from the statistics of other citizens.

the elite lost court cases, if proof was not sufficient, or

™
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the law had obviously been broken. Free blacks were not denied
their right to initiate court proceedings, as testified to by the
number of cases brought before the court, even 1f the defendant
against whom the suit was made was white. The courts heard many
cases involving debt, and also cases concerning indenture terms and
conditiong. Fornication and bastardy cases toock up a large amount

of the courts' time, as did cases of livestock theft. Serious

crimes such as rape or murder were tried in al court. but
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re heard locally.

Evidence has been cited concerning the treatment of free

4 2

blacks in early Somerset County court cases, and occasionally even
slaves were brought into court to testify either against other
slaves or 1in their behalf during the Colonial period. In a case

which demonstrated Somerset's apparent lack of deep prejudice

in general, George Hardy in 1740, brought his slave
Dinah to court for setting on fire 500 pounds of tobacco, a gun and

89 flax sheaves. Dinah pled "not guilty" and several slaves were

1d their stori
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in court, and Dinah was found not guilty. What

is unusual about this case 1s that Dinah's master brought the case

before the court at all. If the slave owner had thought
law unto himself on his ocwn property, he certainly would not have

P 4

bothered to bring a slave accused of setting a costly fire to

Many slave owners brought slave c¢hildren to court to have

their ages officially determined by the court; a

o]

d many asked for
tax exemptions for old, infirm or injured slaves who could no
longer work. In one interesting case, Lewis Jones of Somerset
Parich asked the court for a tax exemption for his slave Hannah,

"her great age". Jones testified that Hannah had bheen

50 vears in the country, imported was a full grown

and already had three c¢hildren before she left her native

k!
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country.

The court, acting as the socia

control agency in a changinc



society, was also very concerned about the morality of
and tried cases of bastard bearing in everv court session. n
cases of white women bearing an illegitimate child whose father was
also white, the court usually fined the man and the woman; however
if the woman was unable to pay the fine or have someone else stand
her gsecuritv, she was usually publicly whipped. But in cases where
a white woman bore a child whose father was a slave, the baby was
z0ld into indentured service for thirtv-one vears. In a common
type of case, Honor Haley was convicted in 1733 of fornication and
bearing a bastard c¢hild, whose father was Jupiter, a negrc man
owned by Jonathan Stanton. Honor Halev received seven vears of
indentured servitude for her c¢rime, and her month-old babyv,., Sarah,
wags sold for thirty-one vears to William Grav of Manckin who paid
500 pounds ¢f tobacco for the babv. Jupiter received no punishment
from the court, and since the countyv residents were offended by the
actions of Heonor, she was awarded to John Scott for the seven vears
service "due the citizens of the County". He paid only ten pounds

"cure her

of tobacco for Honor and was admonished by the court to
Hannah Black was arraigned for committing fornication and

begetting a bastard child, who was born on January 10, 1734. But,
in the opinion of the court, Hannah Black was not punishable for
adultery or fornication, since she was a black woman. The General
Assemblyv's act did not specifically include black women bearing

black children, so the Somerset court declined to prosecute her.

Free mulatto women were punishable under the 1728 law, which algo



applied to white women, so the 1 at
mulatto women and black women differentlyv. Perhaps the lawmakers

viewed free black wvomen ag more akin to slaves, and mulattos as
closely associated with whites. A 1733 case involved a mulatto
woman named Moll Jarvis who had given birth to a "mulatto bov", Sam
Jarvis. The court crdered Sam gcold to Mrs. Alice Ellis until he
was thirtv-one vears o0ld, and the county was due 500 pounds of
tobacco for the contract.®

Because the court officers held a strong belief that contracts

were inviolable legal documents and held the power of the law

dilsputes involving a contract of any kind usually ended with the
terms of the contract being enforced. TIf the specific terms of the

contract could be proven, then the court insisted that one party
comply with the document. In 1759, "the Negro Roger" petitioned
the court because Thomas Pollitt had "detained him as a Servant™.

The gheriff

ed to summon Pollitt immediately and have him
appear in court hefore the justices "now szitting” The justices
found that the terms of the indenture had indeed been fulfilled,
and that Pollitt must release Roger immediatelv. Rogers' position
was a precarious one in that he, as a free negro who had indentured
himself for a term of vears, was being held past that term by a
white man, and his only recourse to ensure hisg freedom was to
petition the court. Roger apparently thought he would receive an

-

impartial hearing before the justices, also white men, or he would
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not have bothered to apply for a hearing.”s

The Pollitt family had a history of holding free blacks bevond



their legal indenture, for in the game vear, Jane Dutton, a member
of a well-known free black family, petitioned the court regarding

"

Jonathan Pcllitt, who had detained her "as a servant or Slave'.

¥
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0llitt wag again ordeved by court to release Jane immediatelv.”

i

Relaticnships hetween the white majority in Somerset County
and the black population, whether slave or free, was seemingly on
good terms during the Colonial era. There were very few incidents
in the court proceedirigs which hinted of fear among the whites, or
rebellion among the black population. One notable exception
occurred 1in 1759 when three slave women were indicted for
attempting to poison a white woman. Thomas Holbrook's slave woman
Dinah was indicted by the court in November, and two of George
Abbott's slaveg, Rachel and Hagar, were also charged that they did
"feloniously of premeditated malice veoluntarily procure a certain
poisonous mixture composed of sundry polsonous herbs” and that in
July they attempted to poison Samuel Ingram's wife Ann. Rachel was
charged with actually doing the poisoning, in that she

procured then and there in & cup with Hysop tea therin which
id Rachel held in her right hand, voluntarily and
felonicusly did give unto Ann Ingram the wife of Samuel, with
an intent to poison her: th; said Ann then and there did
drink, wher: the saild Ann immediately grue [which means

1l 210y
ﬂdlﬁ oY gf'ef‘ and continued frow the aforesaid day in July
until August -

following."

Ann Ingram obviously was not killed by the attempted poison,

she signed the bill of indictment, bult many guestions are

brought to mind concerning this puzzling case. What were three

slave women doing in the home of Ann Ingram, who was not the
mistress of any of them? Were they called to "doctor" her with

WD



their herbal remedy? They presumably were there
because Ann Tngram freely drank the mixture. Perhaps the slave

women were actually attempting to care for an 111 woman, or perhaps

is evidence of subversive resistance on the part of slaves

U

dominated by overbearing mistresses. Ag with many court cases, the
outcome was not reccorded with the indictment, sc¢ the fate of the
women is not known. tecause thev were unable to testify against a
white person, 1t is difficult to envision a "not guilty" verdict.

Free blacks in Colonial Marvland were a relatively small and
powerless group whnose legal treatment was basically determined by
the attitudes held by the white majority. The white population was
not dependent on free black labor and perceived little competition
or threat from the free black minority. The legal position of free

blacks was esgentlially consistent with the rights of any free
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rson,

that they could not legally marry a white person.
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1t little restraint in ini
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In Somerset County, free blacks fe¢

legal cases against white persons,. and the court's ruling seemed

1y unbiased toward blacks. However, after the Revolutionary
i rtrhetoric of "liberty and justice for all",

of laws restricting fre

]
.
1]

One of the ways a free black man could make a 1living in
Somerset County was on the water, and an act passed in 1824

to Kkeep careful records of all black

recuired chips' m

. Ship captains were prohibited

X

> poutside

p

from carrving any free black without & freedom certificat



the state. Later, white watermen became agitated that free black
oystermen were cutting in on their livelihood, and a 1836 law

1

required that a white person above the age of eighteen be the chief
navigator of any ship working in the waters of Maryla‘nd.45

In 1805 reports to the assembly indicated that free blacks
were selling farm produce they had received from slaves, hurting

the economic profit of slave-owning farmers. Consequently, a new

statute insisted that anv free negro whe sold corn, wheat or

[N

tobacco must have a license frowm a justice of the peace stating

U

that the seller was of good character and orderly. If caught
without a license, both the seller and buver were fined. A later

law further restricted free blacks by adding bacon, beef, pork,

oats and rve to the list, as well as making a requirement that a
certificate gstating that he had come into the possession of the
items honestly he issued. If a free black person was caught

trafficking in stolen goods, he could be sold as a slave outside
the state. An 1806 law stated that a free black with a gun must
alezo have a certificate from the magistrate stating that he was an

For

orderly person. T

a4 short time between 1824 and 1831, the state

cven outlawed the privilege of free blacks owning a gun at all, but
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this law was repealed because guns were needed for hunting
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throughout the state, even by free blacks. Restricti
enacted concerning the sale of liguor to any black person, whether
slave or free. Az fear grew among the general public, the state

ature passed more laws restricting free blacks and drawing an
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ens of Marvliand.

obvicus line between white and free bhlack citi

N



to the letter in

areas 1s unknown, but in Somerset County where relationships

fairly good, it is difficult to imagine the local

down offending free blacks and bringing them to court for such
offenses. The county court records does not indicate prosecution
for these minor offenses.”

The state constitution of 1776 allowed all free men to vote in
alections for the lower house, without regard to color, but a 1782
statute began restricting the vote of f[ree blacks. Men who were
manumitted after 1783 were denied the privilege of office-holding
or voting, and in 1802 a constitutional amendment took away their
voting rights altogether. Tt is ivonic that the post-Revolutionary

era produced more regtrictive laws concern had

passed in the Colonial vears.
Aifficulty differentiating between free black persons and slaves,
both physically and

ilosophically. Lawmakers tended to group all

black people together, and apparently if there were
J I p

any trouble, the free blacks would be on the gide of the slavegs.
Despite evidence to the contrary locally, where free blacks who
1-.

were ambitious to be successful followed the pattern of the white

maijority, white peliticians could not see lines of class taking

wJ
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3.MANUMISSTION

Free blacks sometimes made agreements to indenture themselves

of time to learn a trade. In 1759 the "negro

sixteen so that she might be taught

read well in the Testament". Porter in turn promised to "find and

apprentice meat, drink, washing, lodging and
cloathing” and to present her at the end of her apprenticeship with
new Jacket and Petticoat of Linsevwoolsey". By serving for a
term of vears, Nann not only learned a trade with which she could
support herself in adulthood, but also learned to read, a
prized commodity in a relatively illiterate socciety. Likewise, in
1763, "the negro Jacob" bound himself until he was twentv-one vears

who promised to teach Jacob the

of age to Nicholas

]
cordwainer's trade. Collier to teach Jacobh to
"read well in the Bible” and to give him toocls at the end of his
"sufficient to make a good shoe" as well as a new suit
48
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entering the ranks of the

relv only on the good will of

for freedom. Pricy to 1752, slave owners in Marvliand

could  free ondsmen in wills, but after that date,
manumissions, as the only means of freedom, were equired to bhe
vecorded by od in the county aysten. Between 1797 and




799 in the Somerset County were 552 transactions
recorded - evervthing from oaths of lovalty to land transfers to
the sale of livestock. There were thirteen manumissions recorded
during that time period, of that thirteen, four invoelved the
freed slaves paving the master an amcunt of money. The "price of
freedom” varied from L55, LS50, L25% paid by men to L1, 15s. paid by
a woman. The other nine pecple whe freed slaves gave various
s . . - ) 1 49
reasons for the manumissions and various time tabies for release.™

The American Revolution moved many slaveholders fo reconsider
the philosophical and humanitarian bases of keeping fellow human
beings in pernetual bondage. The contradiction between the

of freedom for all Americans

generational slavery must have struck a

‘O

slaveholders. At the gsame

County

concerning freedom were abroad in

of

wave
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rel

periencin 1gi

Church made huge in the countv, and
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anti

its

strong avery

congregations were encouraged to
to free their bondsmen Although mest of the converts to

were from the less wealthy segment of
population, some of the s obviocusly

Retwecnn 1797

NI

and
chord in
Revolutionary
countrv, the

revivalism.

itinerant

led

language, wmembers in

stop buving or selling
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the practice of

some Somerset

The Methodist

preachers

upon i

hacked

church later

Somerset

did own slaveg.-’
y-one manumissions



recorvded in Somerset County deed books, ., or
about 30%, listed moral or religious reasons . Of

those eight, three used almost tanguage in their deeds of
manumissiocn, words which came directly from the Methodist Church

official anti-slavery sgtance. In 1797,

manumission cf one of their slaves, and in 1799 Elizabeth and

Mathilda Fletcher freed five

being conscious to ourselves that the > of holding our
fellow man in perpetual bondage an vy repugnant to
the Golden Law of God and the el of mankind as
well as to every principle of late rious Revolution
which hasgs take i

Interestingly, none of them freed their slaves immediately, but
ingisted that the slavesgs be anvwhere from 25 te 40 vears of age at

T

their release.’

uring the same eight-vear period, five people freed slaves
for wvarious moral reasons, ranging from "the belief of the
impropriety of holding a fellow creature in slavery" to "motives of
Justice and humanitv",. to "a full persuasion in my own mind that
freedom 1is the natural right of all mankind". Four of these
manumitters were men and one was a woman, and onlyv one freed the
slave immediately. The others delaved manumission of the slaves,
manyv of whom were children.

Degspite the impetus of some slaveowners to free slaves from

,_.n

others continued to

igions, philoscophical or wmoral reasonsg,

'
4.

to zlaves for personal reasons. Three men
freaed slaves because of the sl laves' good behavior or because the

master felt a measure of good will for a particular slave. One man

W
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in Johnston County, N.C., wrote an interesting
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My two negro men Davy and Daniel, ever since they have been my

propervty have conducted themselves in 3

faithful manner and should be
estate will not free them, the

in Marvlanc

and

of my
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The executor of the preceding Handy Mathias estate did not free

Mathiag' favored slaves, because the Somerset County deed bock for

—

1804 recorded George Mathias' manumission of them, according to his

\
(D

brother's wighes, nearlyv a vear after Handv's death. John Johnson,
in a typical manumission involving the freeing of a favorite of the

slaveowner, in 1804 wrote that "for the good will T bear negro
Grace plus 5 shillings", Grace was to be freed.””

Historians have also listed another reason that slaveowners
reed certain slaves: kinship. The idea that slaves were freed

were somehow related to their owner 1is nearly

prove by the recorded evidence. But the case of

ook into the peculiar lives
of Tull and his slave Milly and her family. In 1884 Tull freed
Amelia {(whose nickname was Milly) with this notation

Milly possesses a healthy constitution & sound mind and body
& who iz capable by labor to procuve sufficient food & raimen
together with i 5 life for herself and her

offepring & being willing & esirous to be set free.

f'"i'

rihdate and that of her three children were duly

il L

noted in the deed. However, in a bizarre and probabl illegal

addendum, Tull acted on his assumed right of "reserving to my self

during my natural 11 free

h
w
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uee, enjoyment, occupation &
service” of Milly and her family. ALl the "freed" slaves would
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continue to live with Tull until his death in 1836, over thirty
vears later. (ITn 1804 Tull also freed a slave woman Nancv after
she paid him L1, 15 shillings, but she apparently left his
household. ) Tn 1805 Tull sold Milly three acres of his tract of
land called "Friendship", and in the 1810 census, only Tull and
Milly and her children lived on his estate. When Tull died in
1836, he left higs niece and nephew a few family items, including

books, but he left "all my little movable property" to Amelia plus

]

4

the remainder of his twentv-acre tract of "Friendship”. Amelia we
Y Jt

fifty at the time of Tull's death; her scn Harry, who was tTwo

hirtv; daughters Leah,

twenty-three, Harriet twelve, and Sarah nine, were algo mentioned

(=3

in Tull's will. Leah also had two swmall children, and Tull was

careful to make sure that "all children proceeding from Amelia's

CTSI There were no other slaves mentioned in the

et
ja
-

. Questions abound when looking at statistics surrounding

Nicholas Tull and Amelia, and more than one interpretation of the

ig obviouzly possible. One scenario geems probable.

az and Amelia lived toegether, probably as man and wife

“+

common form", for nearly forty vears, had six children and at leas

kel

andchildren. gince

Gz were all legallyv free, and as we

have zeen, County justices were diligent in ensuring that

1v and her children could have

1804, despite his postscript

to th 1. However, they remained. Tull sold Milly three
at zo that she could be self-sufficient and to "keep up




appearances"; and at his death, Tull left almost his entire egtate
to Milly. He never married. 1In a sociely where respectable white
people did not marry their former slaves, the only solution to the
social problem of cohabiting with a hlack woman, was for Tull to

live quietly in dsolation and carryv on the subterfuge

The 1818 Somerset County deed book 7recorded even more
startling statistics regarding manumission of slaves. 0f eight
manumissions recorded throughout 1818 and up to February 1819,
seven involved payment by the glave to his or her owner in sums
ranging from the nominal 1 cent to $400. Since the law prohibited

14 age or physical
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the freeing of

or mental disability, each freedonm D:

on's ability for self-support. The voungest of the freed

[l
M
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slaves was Lochkey, who was twenty-six, whose master also accepted
1 ¢cent for her release from bondage - obviously a mere token. The

rom thirtv-gsix to fortv-five, past middle

(,’

other six ranged in

age in early nineteenth century life expectancy.
The major question, "Where did slaves get large amounts o

to pay for their own freedom?", comes to mind. In 1818,

L =

from 5200 to $400 were not s=mall suwms of money. Many




would prove useful to a master. {(One wonders why a master would

free such a slave who possessed potential earning ability.)

Perhaps freed slavesz bought freedom for other members

who were still held in bondage.

Contemporary newspapers advertised both the availability of

slaves for hirve and those decsivous of availing themselves of the

. Tiin 1831 the Princesgg Anne Village Herald ran an

service

advertisement from Gilbert Guillet who wanted to "hire laboring

laves for the ensuing vear", and a vear later a news article

regarding an Asiatic Cholera epidemic mentioned that a ship captain
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died along with two blacks, one :"the property of Josiah Bavly
and hired byv Capt. Jones, the other of Capt. Jesse Hughes."z“6

The 1818 manumissions indicated that Bob paid his master $350;
Elzey Jenkins, age thirty-six, paid $45 for his freedom; Mieagre,

also thivtyv-six, paid her mistress $400; and Arnold who was forty

five, together pre:
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vears of age and Ebbin,
their owners. In the case of large amounts of wmoney changing

worth of the slave on the market was reflected.

But an  int. . ting and puzzling transaction was recorded in
February of 1819, On the 13th.., William Warwick sold his slave
Wafe and her daughter Levina to Marcy Maddux for $200. Three davs
later, Marcy Maddux manumitted Wafe and ILevina for the
consideration of £200. Apparently Marcy Maddux bought the slaves
in order to free them. Had Wafe approached Warwick with the
proposition of buving her freedom for £200, and had he then sold

her? Cr  Adid Marcy Maddux  act  as go-betwee: i some other



on

angement?  The vecord doeg not answer the question.”

The only 1818 manumission not involving wmoney was Francis

four slaves who may have been a familyv: George,
age twenty-one, Carey, twenty-seven, and Carev's children Rober

five, and Angelina, four. Francis Waters stated that because of an

he was freeing the four
slaves, Aversion to slavery however 4id not mean Waters was
willing to lose money on his investment in human bondage, for the
slaves were not to be free until their best working vears were

over. Carey would gain her freedom in 1823 when she was thirty-

5

two, George would enslaved for nine more vears until

e was
thirty. Carev's son Robert would have to serve for twentv-five
more years, and babv Angelina an additional twenty-one years.
Waters also wade provisions that Carey's future children; and

ring could expect freedom at age thirty for

"aversion to enslaving human beings" was the only
ssions in the 1818 group of eight.

ri. If theyv held religious or moral

freeing of slaveg, thoge reasons were
of manumission.

slave owners generally did not release their

were past middle age. The

manumission made it easier for the slave to

ve into a free soclety by giving him or her time to learn a

trade. Slaveowners were prohibited by law from releasing sick or



feeble glaves, including voung children and those unable to earn a

living. S0, unless children were

and state were protecting

themselves from an influx of ces on the one hand, and a
sudden sharp increase in a free black population on the other.
Delaved manumission also allowed planters to gradually move away
from dependence on slave labor in an unstable post-Revolutionary
cconomy. Adult male slaves carried ocut most of the heavy planting
and reaping responsibilities on a plantation, so they were usually
freed at a later age than females. Nearly every manumission
described an older age for males to be released than for women;
often men were released at 28 cr 30, and women at 21 or 25. The

small number of manumigsions recorded in the county deed books

ownergs Lo

glaves gradually, and sometimes additional

effectively

requirements for freedom were added so that slaves inherited by

children of the deceased had to work for several more yvears to
attain freedonm. James Polk freed all of his slaves by hig 1795
will, bat only after each one had reached the age of 25. This

-

meant that for nine of hisg slav om came 1immediately afterxr
Polk's death, but for the remaining thirteen, freedom was delaved
=

for from three to twentv-four vears.’
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aves and natural increase enlarged the free



of Somerset County, but sometimes the evidence

difficult to gsee at first glance. Census statistics for 1800 and
ack citizens living
in Somerset County. At first glance it would seem that there were
only a handful cof independent ~ree black households in either
are so few.

census, because the

However, on closer romes obvious
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that the gr to be living

4+

of white landowners.

ithin the househol

grouped according to ths numbers of free white

groups, free white females of particular age

"all others excluding Indians®. The "all others" column can only

fact may be missed by
cursory glances at earlv census records. (More concerning the
census data will follow.)

Manumissions during the late eighteenth and early nineteenth
centuries made econcmic impact on white Somerset County society,
“ire free black population. By the middle 1700's free

sounty had carved out for themselves a relatively

and were certainly better off in many wayvs than their

release of new free workers into the

slave nei

he newly manumitted to hire themcelves

ple who had freed them, and in some cases They

in the same quarters they had occupied as slaves.

labor alsoc increasgsed with the

the county actually began tc



decrease in the early nineteenth century. White laborers alsc saw

opportuniti
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opening up for them by moving westward in hopes of

finding new, che

i conmsequently white farmers began to rely

on the free black workforce. This reliance forged a las

[

for free hlacks in Somerse

. one which, although

necessary to white farmers, encouraged poor treatment and second-

¢lass citizenship for

A
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4 .CHURCH RECORDS

Regearchers interested in the treatment of free blacks in a
predominantly white society often overlook the evidence which may
be available 1in c¢hurch records, particularly in the official
Anglican records of the Colonial era. Because the Anglican Church
was established by law in Maryvland in 1692, it became an official

arm of the state 1in keeping records and maintaining the good

=

7

conduct of the ¢itizens. Of course some "clerks in Holy Orders"™,
as the clergy were called, were hetter record-keepers than others.
Therefore one church's registers may be full of vital information,
and others may have very little of interest pertaining to the study
of free Dblacks. Fires destroved rTitten  ledgers, as  did
negligence, sc some churches do not even posgess early records; but

Somerset Parish din  Somerset Countv does have a remarkable

llection of earlv records which enables the researcher to piece

Ol
together a glance into the workings of the Anglican Church in early
Mavvland. How black residente of Somerset Parish, both slave and
free, participated in the life of the church provides another piece
to the complicated puzzle of Somerset County society.

As rector of Sowmerset Parish, The Reverend Alexander Adams
wrestled with the moral gquestion of the salvation and
Christianization of sglaves. With so few Anglican c¢lergy on the
Fastern Shore of Maryland, Mr. Adawms served one parish then anothevr
in Scomerset County during his long ministry. TIn 1724 he had been

Ve

a "Misgssionary to the Plantations" for twentv vears. Among the

44
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problems facing him were inadequate payv, poor housing, a parish
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les long, four-hundred families scattered along theose fifty
miles, difficultly in buyving wine for Communion and no altar on
which to prepare the sacrament Mr. Adams had responded to the
call for missionaries in 1704, only three years after it was issued
by the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel in Foreign Parts

(§.P.G.). Formed 1in 1701 to encourage missionary work in the

British Colonies and promocte conversion of the natives, the

estionnaire to ites wmissionaries in 1724. One of
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the guestions was, "Are there any Infidels, bhond or free, in vour
Parish and what means are used for their conversion?" To this Mr
Adams replied, "There ave Indians & Negro slaves. Some Negroes are
baptized after instruction in the Church Catechizsm & frequent the

public worship. No means used to convert the Indians; their

nil

1~

nguage unknown to us.

Since the establishment of the Church of England in Marvland
in 1692, the guestion of slaves in the church had been a problenm.
The population of the Eastern Shore was sparse and widely

x

to help grow the main cash crop,

red, and slaves labored
tobacco. A huge parcel of land originally stretching fron
Marvliand's border with Virginia north to Delaware, Somerset County
embraced four parishes - Somerset, Coventry, Stepney and Snow Hilil;

and 2 June 1694 veport to the governor noted that although thers

o

wvere four parishes laild out, there was "nev a church". By 1724,

—

however, a building had been raiged in each parish. The Rev. Mr.

Adams' job of attending to the needs of Anglican and converting

N
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cold, heat, mosquitcos and apathy

a4

of London,
who had oversight of the pioneer churches, was constrained by
political pressures from sending anyone to lead or organize these

ventures, and the slave owners were either unconcerned about the

1-.

conversion of their slaves to Christianity or afraid they would be
S T
freed if baptized.

Although church in the
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Colonies to work among slaves for their conversion to Christianity,
the question of whether baptism constituted freedom for the slave

was not clear in the minds of Anglican ¢lergy or slaveowners.

=

1664 Marvliand law stated that baptism had no effect on the status

-

of a slave, but the Bishop of Londown wag gtill dnstructing his

missionaries as late as 1727,
Christianity and the embracing of the Gospel does not make
the least alteration in Civil ?ropefty. . . The freedom which
Christianity gives 1g a freedom from the Bondage of gin and
Satan. . . But as to ir outward Condition, whatever it was
3efure, whether bond free, t“@l“ being baptized and
crcoming Christians makes no manner of Change in it.””

pa—

Nevertheless, slave cwners were slow to bring their slaves for

cf Marvland at the time

of the 1724 questionnaire a difficult place in which to live.
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The plantations were widely sgcattered along the rivers, and for

anyone to attend any church service rec jul ired enormous comm]

b

ucation, both Christian

and ctherwise, for their own children and claves alike, and they

encouraged to fulfill their duty to teach them, The Lord
Bishop of 1 Ton did send a to tt clergy on the Eastern




>, admor

Shore in 1730, the Rev. John Lang, to encoura

LQ

examine credentials. In a speech at the opening of the conference

—

on June 24, Mr. he attendants about the neglect of

be denied that they
are part of our cure, & that we shall be accountable te God for the

discharge of our duty to them." Although he did not expect the

Parish, served by The Rev. James Robertson., who worked

1718 until his death in 1748. TIn his answer to the §.P.C

understand & there are negrc slaves
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whereof csome come to Church & are baptized & others who neither by

thelr own consent nor e willing to be baptized.®

. Adams and Mr. Robert seemed very matter-of-fact about
joining their masters at public worchip, being instructed

Taith ana the sacrament of baptign There

Aid not to he any idea of keeping blacks from worshipping with

ie Aifficult to kpnow if the

~y e e T ~
or were forced into

= Mr. Robertgson's




fisms were voluntary. However, in

least hints that adult slave b:

o

seprmons in 1750, ancother Marvrvliand clergyman, Thomas

of boeth master and glave.,

Bacon, expressed COoncern over

"Thege baptized slaves were in as profound Tgnorance

4

of what Christianit asz to a few outward

v oreally is, (e
Ordinances) as if they had remained in the midst of those barbarous

Heathen Countri from whence their parentsg had first been

imported.” At least some people, therefore, thought that even the
zlaves who had been baptized were still c¢linging to nativs
;f:fév}igion,65

All births were required to be noted in the Parish registry
within two wmonths, but baptisms were rarely listed along with
births. Parish registers became a legal tool to keep track of
births, deaths, marviages and the nanes of those who had paid their
taxes for upkeep of the church and clergy salarvies. The records
fer Somerset Parish listed in 1703-1705 the births of three slaves

7y

owned by the Denwood family. In January 1703, Frost, and in April

elonged to Arthur
Domway, belonging to Levin Denwocod, was born.'

The Denwood family represents a particularly interesting page

in the history of Somerset Parish slaveowns

nwood came to Somerset County in 1670/01 with his wife Priscilla

son levin, who was born in awaaocks, Accomack

County, Virginia™. A second son Arthur, was born in 1671/72 in

Arthur referred to in the Scmerset Parish listing of slave births

i

¢



were father and son. While only three Denwood slave births were
shown in church records, Mr. Levin Denwood registered at the
Somerset County Circuit Court, between 1690 and 1697, seven other
slave births. Some of the glave parents had Afryican names: Boobo,
Tockoe, and Gola, but the children were given FEnglish or Biblical
names: Sue, Moll, James, Will, Pegg, Sarah and Sampson. Mr.
Denwood was a law-abiding subject of the crown, for when the law

4

150, even

jorn
fde

reqgquired him to register births with the parish, he ¢
though he was not an Anglican, but a Quaker. His 1725 will carried
this legacv:

I give and bequeth unto my Daughter Betty Gale & Elizabeth
Waters ffﬁ@n pounds to he by them dicgposed of among Friends
anmonTv called Quakers. I also give to the (gsaid) Betty and
. Heivg & At(1an5 rer e Acre of Land Lving
ocomico nny whereon ther now is a Quaker
'."g House with the gai d meeting House to bhe kept for that

)
"

[

Hig will made 1no mention of slaves, but his son Arthur's 1720

,..,4

200 sterling, with the most

inventory was valued at over L

men, women and children worth L

451. He also had one white rvant man worth L 9. Arthur's widow

1

Egsther made out her will in 1724, leaving nine of her slaves to her

some more African names were mentioned:
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Binah and Becudah, along with Plymouth, Bristol, Jacob, Robin,

prominent Quakers who built the

1nd were slave owners in  the
uries, desgpite the famous anti-




ngside the names of anyone b

7 baptisms began to be listed along

at that time wag the

with births. The rector of Somerset Pari

::\;

Perhaps he was a better recorvd-keeper than
his predecegssors, and perhaps he encouraged baptism among blacks,

because there are sgeven baptisms of slave c¢hildren and four

ks in 1817 and 1818 alone. The c¢hild's name
was given along with birth and baptism dates, and the parentg’

names were noted, but, in the case of slaves, not the names of the

owWners. In a typical slave baptism entryv, "Susan, daughter of

slaves Job and Till Decembsyr 10, 1818, and baptised June

1818". However, the free blacks' surnames were listed along with

the term "negro™. "John Henry son of S8imoc and Rose Ballard -

negroes- was born September 17, 1818, baptised same time." Raising

guestions about earlier birth entries, in 1822 the rector wrote &

heading on one of the vegistry pages "Baptisms by the Rev'd. Joseph

Covell™, but listed only births. Were baptisms administered at

the
same time as the birth, as in previcus entries? It is impossible
to say. One entry was particularly interesting: "Sarah Ann,
daughter of Slaves Abraham and Sarah his wife was born October 10.
1822", Tt dis the first entry showing the slave parents being

married. {(Entriecs for whites were entered "Anne Avers, daughter of

Henry Hyland and Harriet his wife . . .") Abraham and Sarah's sons

oo
G

C’\

were noted under "Births' in 1824 and 1826

Were Someraget Pa neighboring Ang

i

licansg also baptizing

slaves and free blacks in this period? Unfortunately, Snow Hill's

=0



early records were lost in an 1824 fire. The statistics for

Coventry Parish, contained within a narrow, hand-made book having

fond
bt

a leather-covered wooden back, listed on one entry for ble

"Betty - at George Bosman's, a mulatto, born September 10, 1724".
Stepney Parish (at Green Hill Church) from 1737 to 1763 listed the

births of only a few mulattos. A woman listed as "the Mulattc Sue,

or Games" gave birth to five children between 1741

alias Sue Magee

D]

and 1754. "The Mulatto Rose, or Rose Game, alias Magee" is shown
to be the mother of two c¢hildren born in 17237 and 1751; and "Mary
Dutton {mulattoe) ' had twvo children born, one in 1759 and the other

in 1762. No other bhirths of free blackg or slaves were listed.

Undoubtedly, record-keeping was careless. But Somerset Pariszh
seems to have been unigue in the ccunty when it came to the baptism
3 e 59

Even if slaves and free blacks were being baptised, were they
incorporated into the 1ife of the parish, and what did that entail?
A noted carlier, slaves did attend worship services. In fact, St.

=
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Andrew's Church of Somerset Parish in Princess Anne still retains
the original slave gallery built when the church was erected in

1770. But hefore the American R there were no American

hishops in the church and none sent from England to ordain clergy
to

or confirm lay people. Men

it

travel bto England or Scotla

must be assumed that very few parishioners on the Eastern Shore
were confirmed from the earliest dayve until 1792 when Thomas J.

“laggett took his place as the first bishop congecrated on American

i
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oil, Tt was customary to bhe confirmed before being allowed to

L

receive communion, but the extraordinary c¢ircumstances of the
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Anglican Chuvrch in America made that impossible. Apparently, to be
listed as a "communicant in good standiang" meant one had been

baptised and prepared for confirmation. but had not vet &

O
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confirmed. VWere blacks listed as communicants in good standing?
n 1790, before he was made bishop, The Rev. Mr. Claggett was

1

rector of 8t. James' Church, Herring Creek, near Baltimore. A list
of communicants of the parish was drawn up on Easter Day: "There
are 48 whites and 13 negroes, total 61. The list of 'Black
brethren communicants’ include two servants of Mr. Claggett". in
1791 the black communicants asked for a piece of ground toc use as
a cemetery for themselves and their descendants. The vegtry gave
it to them, provided they fence it in themselves. It seems that
the blacks were incorporated into the life of the church and seen
as full members in good standing, even if they could not be buried
in churchyvard reserved for ites. 7

"Bishop Claggett confirmed over 2000 people in his first vyear

of the Episcopate, the first confirmations in the Church

Maryland since its existence - 160 vears". He made his first visit

o

L

Somerset Parish in 1795 and confirmed sevenlty people. There was
no indication that any of them were black. (Consistently, when

blacks were ligsted in the church records there was some written

J
3

notation, whether "free negro" "slave", "mulatto", "servant”™, o
"colored".) However, 1in an 1805 entry, Somerset Parish church

members were lisgted. The page is headed "A list of those persons



to the Canons of the

c

E. (Episcopal) Church™ and numbered 86-131. The preceding page 1is

and 2 free women. They were all listed by first name only in one

column, followed by "property of" and their owner's name in the

’1‘

adjacent column. In the owner column, "free" is written beside the
names "¥Nannv" and "Tabby". The vest of the page 1is numbered

e 11

through 85 with the names of whites, and "Communicants" is written

at the more names numbered

sagumed that

ligted as a communicant had been bajg ed and was at least a

(o]
s
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teenager, 1f not an adult, since ¢hildren did not receive communion

until "the age of dizscretion” when they could be prepared for

list of Somerset Parish communicants in

confirmation. An €

oy
o

et

iscretion must have

at all. The rector's

786 listed no hlacks

heen a determining facteor in drawing up the list. It was, and isg,

e custom of the Episcopal Churceh to receive the communion wine

from a common chalice. Are we to assume that blacks and whites,
oy SN | - ~ - = a1 £ . 5 4 - r)':’?‘

slave and master drank from The same cup?'-

There arve many gaps in the Somerszet Parish records, somelimes

due to clergy vacancies in the parish and gsometimes, it must be

noted, due to the rector’s complete avoidance of

about 1825 to 1845 there wevre nce blacks named in the register as

But when the Rev. Harvey Stanley was elected

registers began to be current and the

of many blacks were recorded. Mr. Staniey did not list the

o
o)
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names of the pavents of the slaves, but noted instead the names ¢

8

the owners The bhirth date and baptism date were .- along with
the names of the godparents or sponsors. Usually the owners were
namaed as sponsors, and sometimes the parents or mother of the glave
child as well. The sponsor at an infant baptism wmust have been

i

eing that the child wasg

to be assumed then that the

fond e

rector cons Christians when he

allowed them to be godparents along with their owners. Where did
these baptisms take place, in Tthe church or at the home of the
slaveholder? In some cases "private" was noted in the register,

and those probably took place in homes. But most entries have no

ich notation. Can it be assumed that the vast majority toock place

‘3

in chuz;l?
OCn January 1, 1846, Dr. Henrv Hyvland's infant daughter Anne

Avers Hyland w

v

¢ baptised at St. Andrew's Church, Princessg Anne,
Somerset Parish, along with six slaves, aged sixteen vears to 15
months. Mrs. John Smith was Anne's godparent and Dr. Hyvland served
as sponsor for his slaves. In 1849, Dr. Hyland's brother, the Rev,
William Hvland must have been visiting Somerset Parish because he
administered baptisms and performed two marriages. The Rev. Mr

Hyland married "Littleton He Henrietta Susan Steward,

1d also Zaddok Maddox and Jane Jones on September 3, 1849. The

D all coleored". We may assume they were all free blacks
becaugse surnames were given for evervone. In 1850 and 1860

separate Federal census'




and the 1850 count for free persons showed that Dr. Hyland's

of himsgelf

47), nine c¢hildren and Litt]

o

1y the same veferred to in the marriage record.

The slave census showed that Dr. Hyland owned seven female and nine

male slaves in addition. Somerset Parish records indicate the
1849 "his woman Anne" brought two daughters for baptism and "his
man Henrv's son" was baptised by Dr. Hyland's brother. The only
other baptism involving blacks asscciated with Dr. Hyland was
Henrietta and Littleton Maddox' son James. The parents and Dr.
Hyland acted as sponsors. Dr. Hyland owned three slave women of
childbearing age in 1850, vet only one, Anne, had her children
baptigsed. The male slaves who were 0ld enough to be fathers added

B &
1

up to four, vet only one chosge baptism for his son.’™
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The statistics suggest, in Dr. Hyland's case at leas

were not forced master's religious practices, but

when they did, the master supported them in their choice. But what

t Parish?

(D

about other slave owners in Somers

Mr. William Wilson Johnston, an active churchman at §8t.
Andrew's Church in Princess Anne, Somerset Parish, was a prosperous
farmer. Elected a vegtry member for many vears, in his 1865 will

he I1eft the parish £5.000 worth of City Of Baltimore stock "for

tipkeep of the church". The 1850 glave census showed that he owned

eight female and eight male slaves, and in 1860 he owned 12 females
and 10 males. Eight church regigster entries mention W.W. Johnston

and slaves. Tn 1846, two of his slaves were married to slaves



owned by other people. Candace married Lyttleton, who belonged to
Misgs H.B. Havyman: and James married 8ylvia, a servant of J.W.

Crisfield. Candace's »1d daughter was baptised in 185

and her infant daughter in 1862 In 1848, "his man William's'

fourteen-month-old son Stephen Cecil was baptised; and in 1851,

Peggyv's nine-year-cld daucghter 8Sally Jane also received that

sacrament. Only one other slave, Ann, was mentioned as the mother

=S
peud

of Daniel who was baptised in 1858, with the father being 3
7. T.G. Polk's slave Isaac. Again, although Mr. Johnston owhed gix
female slaves of child-bearing age in 1860, from 1858 to 1862, only

three of the women had an interest 1in having her «c¢hildren

baptised.

Somerset Parish, in the Episcopal Church, was fairlyv regular
at baptizing slaves and free blacks as well. From 1846-1857, the
Rev. Jogeph Nicholson was particularly active in baptizing and
officiating at the marriages of slaves and free blacks.

ngly enough, the 1850 slave census showed that he owned
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slaves himself: a 45-vear-old man, a 30 vear-old woman, 17 and 7-
yvear-old girls, and a 4-year-old hoy. Possibly this was a family
of man, wife, two small children plus a teenaged girl.) In fact
Mr. Nicholsen baptised no less than 69 slaves, both children and
adults. He also officiated at the marriages of nine couples, some
of whom were slave, some were free, and some were a combination of

slave and free, even though it was 1llegal for a c¢lergyman to maryy

i

slaves. Tt is interesting to note that "Levin Libby was married to

Henny, a servant of Mrs. Ann W. Jones on Easter Day, March 31,



1850, in A1l Saints' Church, Monie". {(The church at Monie is
included in Somerset Parish.) Also, "The Sunday after Easter,

ril 15, 18490, at the Evening service at All Saints', Monie, James
Murray, a free c¢olored man & Betty Ann Bounds, a free colored

te a public dis the marriage of
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T
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woman" were married. Qu:
blacks in the church on Easter Day and the Sunday after Faster

ne

during the Evening servicel’

i

Even though blacks were heing baptised and married in the

-

church, confirmation records list no bhlacks at all.

2

onfirmation

""ﬂ

was seen as the adult affirmation of baptismal vows, and meant full
adult incorporation and involvement in the church. If blacks were

not confirmed, unltike earlier dave on The Fastern Shore when there

was no pishop to confirm, it meant could not vote in vestry
elections, and most probably could not receive communion. Blacks
were not listed in mid-nineteenth-century communicant lists eithex.
Cnie conjecture is that while the clergy were willing to incorporate
hlacks into Christianity by baptism, and make a show of Chrigtian
marviage, they were not willing to make the step of offering blacks
full adult participation in the churah.

The Rt. Rev. William R. Whittington., fourth bishop of the
diccese of Marvliand and Dbishop during the Somerset Parish
rectorship of Joseph Nicholson, perhaps represented the view of the

davy. In an 1842 letter he ssed his abhorrence of abolition

G urged Dr, John Scott, a catechist to a congregation of negroes
on the Fastern Shore:

The calunny of abolition wmust be carefully g
This can be best done by the most scrupulo

Ay ! igmlhnu .
5 J\l}”" cnee t()

1
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1
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ion and intercourse with the ne
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and by bringin Yoo h on
practice, the Gospel rvule of Subordination in soo: v, and the
compatibility of spiritual erVLlegG with tempo ‘al privation,
and even oppression.

Yet he always addressed words of instruction to the blacks in

> gservants to be called in

{

whenn the single black

admitted as a pavish, the bighop put the reguest aside. Later,

asked if the black man were not entitled to all the rights as

ubtless: but I do not consider
77

representation in Convention to be a Christian right.
The evolution of the position of blacks, both slave and free,

in the life of Somerset Parish, as seen from exXisting records,

seems to have gone from less constrained to morve constrained as
h-century Marvliand lurched toward Civil War. In this

, the church followed suit with the state as a whele. If the

vounger step-brothers, needing protection and guidance, and not
quite measuring up to full fraternity.
Many of the clergy themselves were slaveholders. The citizens

£ (A

of Somerset Parvish, of course, held widely differing opinions about

slavery. TEe were slave owners and those who had no slaves; some
masters ook as

¥ 437



He also wanted to give his slave

$25.00 and permit him to go *to

heir children to become citizens of

dren died before age twentv-one or

When all the statistics are added together, lines are read

=, and theories pregented, it doeg rvemain

clear that blacks in Somerset Parish were not fully incorporated
into the 1ife of the church from 1692-1865. Given the theological
thinking of the dayv on the generally conservative Eastern Shore,
perhaps that was impossible. Paternalism could allow for salvation

(g, but not full brotherhood as Christian

n

to be extended to bla

But a picture may develop of a society where slaves were not forced

s

to accept a master's veligious practice. Records are sketchy,

. What can be pieced together ism

a complex, many-hued patchwork

nilt of a fragment of life in Somerset Parish, Marvyland.

(93]



An interesting aspect of

i

noa fairly closed geographic

Somerset Countv was settled

because many of the familiesg

the pool of names of white

knowing a surname, sottlement

difficult to

since they

i

names

[l

Armwocd, Pinkett, Logy, Blue

names of free blacks in the

checking the census statisti

"Dlack" last names can

Some historians have

newly  free slaves were

themse lves, did not

thev

that the names of

of

T il e e
JAaCKsoN

least. The

full names

tv had

majori

e Hi
obvious th

free hlacks

by
staved on the

settlers i oun

distingui

hoth are

be found.
attempt
faced

choose

Jefferson

were

NAMES

tracing slave and free black families

area, Ls the study of names. Because

predominantly British peoples, and

X

Shore and intermarried,

and distinct, By

tterns can gquite easily be traced,
sh hetween black families and white

T
i

It

ig

sale surnames.

Game, Puckham,

no white

counterparts. By

no other distinct free

vy

ed to make the case that when

[

with c¢hoosing a surname for
the name of their former masters.

American heroces were chosen, such
are not borne out in %omerset

of free blacks in the
people”

' f»«ine Rt

set

last names as Somer

of county names,

whether by custom

at,

the




recordaded

indenture

Certificate

stigating 1t}

<7 i S 12T e
&y, , Horcey, Tilghwman
& were noe Washingtons or

Sonmerset County deeds which

two examples 1in the vear 1799 of newly

Cannon.
of freedom recorded many free black

mastere. Richard

‘r‘

Tsaac in 1812, and when he came to

his name as ITsaac

numerated the names

county  along with their owners.
in the fivet district in

mparing them to the slave names listed in the
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-
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slaves were named by owners, but the

L

rlier listing alsc suggests that many

4

g out all traces of

society. But the number of African



names sti1l being used in the second half of the eighteenth century
is evidence that such was not the case in Sowerset County.

In 1753 classical names were in vogue, as attested to by such
upiter, Pompev, Mars and Hector; but

names ag Caesar, Nero, Venus. J

in 1823 there were far fewer such names. In fact, only Horace,

s}

and Lucretia were listed iblical names were

both tax listg of slave names, however the 17573 names show several
Biblical names which depict a negative or pejorative tone. The name
Hagar, the Biblical concubine of Abraham, was found, as was her

Al

son's name Ismael. In the Biblical story, both mother and son were

Ut
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expelled from the community by Abraham name

=

Ismael came to be associated with being an outcast. Cain, the
first murderer in the Bible, was also a slave name, as was FEsau who
s01d his birthright, and Lot who was seduced. However, heroic

Biblical names were algso found in the 1753 list: Peter, Esther,

mber of slaves with Biblica

o
2z,
o
)
ownd
’_J
D
T
e
]
=
e
o

o]
[k
o
Ty
T

o)
o
}-—-J
|...J

not liet any with decidedly negative connotations. Moses, Sarah,

jah, and Job were all found in the later

Jod

Judah, Isaac, Sampson, E1

In the 1753 list, many slaves had place names for their given

names, perhaps telling something about the origins of the master's

e
i

iew Cases, ¢

alave's own beginnings. Dublin,
Glascow, Surry, London, York, Fssex,
were all used as first names in the list, However, 1in the 1823
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as given names for slaves;
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only Glascow, York, Preston and Richmond were shown. The majority

showed Bess, Jack, Kate, Will, Moll. and Tom to be popular slave

mel ia, James, Stewart,
Charles, Amny and Lvdia were common.

Descriptive names for slaves were more in vogue in 1753 than
Y

in 1823. Messenger, Mover, Coffee, Tawney, Fortune, Cooker, Bony,

criptive names

Comfort,

Since Somerset County is a fairly isclated communityv, the

names of the

some slave names reflect that small sanmpling. In 1753 one slave

was named Randell (for Randell Revell, one of the first settlers of

[
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the county), one was named Purnel

srominent family name), one
was known as Somerset, and one wag Whitehaven, which is a ferry -

sing in the county. But in the 1823 tax, there were many more

Somerset County names reflected in the gslave list. Peculiarly
first names included Handy, Bozman, Beauchamp,

Hooper, Tubman, and Littleton; while equally

names such as Levin, Randell and Messor were also

Zut the most interesting c¢ontrast was in the category of

African names. In the earlier tax list, at least gixtv szlaves had

o
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1ames t




Countv took a census in 1755% which showed a total of 3088
residing in the county, so only a small percentage of them still
names. Many of the names ended in the

cgaweo, Joo, Arnako, Mavrio, Tarroh, Dyoro,

A

Jelemechus, Aener, Pashen, Quomenar,

and had not

heen renamed with Fnglish ones. Perhaps these glaves had come

for a generation, all but a few bondsmen in Somerset County hacd

l1ost their African name heritage. But the fact that any remained

sl

ig perhaps surprising. Even in the 1832 census of free blacks,

iere survived a few African names among the free blacks. Men were

Suirhanmnes

come

T

- -1 -+ 1 < T =
names, the . Both of these £




1

point to the relatively non-violent relationship betwveen blacks and

the vears before the Civil War. White masters could

have

“iges of African culture in one

{ they ad des: 1 its eradication. Black men and women c¢could

‘name the wanted, but preferred the names of

While the

on black

blacks wanted to

migrate to Liberia only indicated two men who desgsired to leave the

o



G.ANTE-RFEIIUM SOMERSET COUNTY

RS W is i

No the 1 cf free black of an area
can bhe seen as separate from the world of the white majority, and

the glave cultures which surround it. Following the Revolutionary
period, the Marvland legislature passed laws affecting the every-
day lives of free blacks, and the economic and cultural colimate
influenced the lives of free black residents of Somerset County.
Somerset County in the 1830's exhibited both the hopeful

spivit of the age and a society ripe for reform. Newspapers

=

accounts provide a snapshot of the day:

"William A.D. Bound:
Margaret, havirg with

reward for negro woman named
1114 9 months old: she ig about

26, 5 ft. 6-8 inch; >y husband, a free negro was seen on
board a vessel to Baltimore: he goes by the name of Thomas

Brown.
"Wi11jgnn'Layfield and Isaac Bozman to apply as insolvent

df’bt Crs.

"H.P. Wilson, wishing to remove frowm the State of

and offerﬁ at private sale tract of land where he

LLDOJnfmenTa by the Governor and Council for
v Levy Court, Suz revors, Justices of the Peacs,
)10hans Cou 1t

Judges of the
"Sheriff's sale at the sult of Williams & Dickevy, \fd.Yii
Jogsiah Johnson, mnegro man named Bob, negro boy Ben, negro
woman Hannah."
"Littleton Dennis Teakle, Princess Anne, solicits support
in his effort in the state Legislature to protect the

oy e - "
oysters.

"A steam bhoat has commenced running from Baltimore to
thiz coun ”; she will soon be able to perform her trip in
10-11 ho "

"A bdrhmvwe at
Ajldfa-e 5 for

oaent , UF

if!? bt

saac Newman: it is q
embly and Sher’ffq y wi

cted
11

the

1oy oo
e




An examination of society 1in ante

L F
(O

distinct

hellum

Marvland, for three groups regidents slaves, t
white majority and the group somewhere in between - free bhlacks -
reveals a complex pattern of zocdial 1ife in a fairly isclated,
insular community. Fach group had distinctions within it which

soviety & icated szt Slaves might hope to be
manumitted and enter the ranks of free black scciety. Free bhlacks
feared sinking into such poverty that they could be forced to sgell
family members into slavery; vet tThe opportunity also isted for
L and moving beyvond mere subsistence into commerce.

1
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ce

rise from poor man t
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ut the reversal o
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possibility. Antebellum society in Somerset County was mobile,

and fearful, despite he appearance of long-time
stability.

Following the War of 1812, Marvlanders looked toward the

1
i

and

hi [

1 hopes

of

i

manufacta: 1

Drogress

methods. S00N gave wvay

impending economic hard times.

steam

progress. Open markets

3

profit from farming and

power and scientific

to the harsh reality of

SO

products

i ERS CCZ}C}I‘@Z s 01 Creildn Ci Clie
price items such as clothes and hardware, and Maryvland

agr s were in competition with cheaper ove
gources. The credit ¢ in 1819 further a critical




financial problem On the Fastern Shore. ovstermen saw  Lhe

o i <
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srogress of "drudging" for the bivalve with cable-driven

instead of with the traditional ton as impending doom and

extinction for tTheir traditional lTivelihood. Banks failed,

o

otteries were run to stimulate the flow of monev, and businessmen

27

organized stock companies for business ventures. °° The
1828, or the Tariff of Abominations, made manufactured goods more
expensive, and ¢redit was tight. Mortgages were being called in and

g the land on the Easte
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ingsolvent debtors a

-

‘ed yvears without replenishment,

had been farmed for
its productivity was diminishing, foroing many to choose bhetween
ctaying on the "home place™ or moving west to more fertile ground.
The men with the largest investment in the land, both in terms of
money and human capital, slaveowners who held more than two or
three slaves, could not move as easily as the marginal farmer.

The newspaper in Princess Anne, the county seat of Somerset
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County, was ifo with

i

cing their forvtunes with

b

Johnson intends to

westward movement in the 18230'sz.
4

emigrate to the fouthern or Western country, will sell cattle,

horses, sheep, hogs &c." On 21, 1832, a notice vead,

"Littleton Long, expecting to leave the county in a few weeks will

part of his furniture. . ."; and in April, "Littleton Long,

ing removed frow the Eastern Shore of Marvland, offers to sell

a farm . . . of 3372 acvres, also a farm at Coaksberry chapel, 150

B ¢

acres'. H.P.C. Wilson wanted to "remove from Marvland" and sell

o
o)
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1200 acres of land, along with all his crops, and was asking
. P ¥
215,000 for his capital. ~

The frightening financial situation prompted men to react in

variocus ways to their impending financial doon. H.K. Long

)

advertised in the newspapeyr, "I want money and must have it!

shiell of Princess Anne

has lost, by bad debt, and
others, at least, FIFTY THOUSAND
berty has been sold at Sheriff's and
1les.  But he does not desp: onl§7(l ks for
ver give up the b;’
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Baltimore lottery agents even advertised in the Somerset

County newspaper, The Village Herald in an attemplt to attract

speculators or gamblers. Banks were alsc being formed in the
county and were looking for subscribers for investment. 1830 was
the opening date for a branch of the Salisbury Bank in Princess

Anne and in 1833 The Somerset Savings Institution of Princ

was incorporated with at least two hundred investors. ;
Not only was the economic climate of the day clouding over

disastrous. The

n
il

blew down a bouse and

and 1n the same vear & tornado killed two wmen and

A compelling picture of glave family structure during the
antebellum period is painted advertisements out
P P N7y v - - P B T O T T4 T e -
which offered rewards for runaway slaves. Tn the Village Herald,




there were over fifteen advert

relatives On July 6, 1830, the following notice appeared in the
newspaper, "$100 Reward for Runaway Slave famil man Jerome,

woman Nanny and two small sons Charles and Henrv. Has brother in
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Snow Hill

cffered a rewvard for a negro man Joe who had run away in Baltimore.
Joe was described as 6 feet tall, aged 45-50 and somewhat gray.

"He formerly lived with me near Green Hill on the Eastern Shore.

"L

The death of masters also apparently

o

signaled an opportunity for
slaves to attempt a run for freedomn. In 1832

of Clement Stanford, offers a

an, Littleton, who ran dWiy from the
Rawleigh, near the ‘
ig BYO9v, 40-45
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Joseph Niche
reward for
residence

Dorches tw*
and came oY inally from Somerset County out
the late J

Contrary to the wnotions of szome students of slave family

velatiocnships, these anecdotal incidents bear witness to a very
strong family relationship among slave families. Even though

Littleton had been sold awav from his home in Somerset County to a

entire familv's attempt to gain was far greater than

that of a zingle individual, but rather than leave children or wife

behind Jerome held his toge Guring theirx .

Unfortunately there i3 no farther evidence concerning these
70



Al
)
=
oF
e

and the success or failure of theilr freed

for this minority than it was even for whi

.

their ads above wate

still walked a

2w landowners, free

Proof of

had to alwave be at haud,

oy arrest and enslavement . In 1832 &a story in the

chestnut color with a4 5 1/2°

rer mother was
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to Mr. James H. Picken of New

How and why did she come to the Eastern Shore

Another woman nawmed Nancy was committed to the

g

nto the county? Tnterestingly all three prisoners
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wreckage

of Pollard Helms - formerly a slave of

County, Maryvland.” With no follow-up stories to any of these
incidents, it is difficult to see a c¢learer picture. Were the
vomen released or sold back dinto slaver Did Pollard Helms
survive the shipwreck without his protection papers, or was he lost
an
kat

Tnsolvent debtors of both races were common in antebellum

blacks made their

~ence of many fre
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debtor could not have

5 Gale

Katy Horsey, a free black, all Katy had to sell was
vearling, 1 diron pot, 1 spider and a Negro man named Titus." Could
Titus have heen husband or brother? In another incident, Stephen
was the defendant in a suit against Thomas

Robertson, and all Sudler had to offer for sale was "a tegro woman,

Milkevy". No matter how povertyv-stricken white debtors became, no
. ' 41
white man had to sell his relatives to payv off a debt.’
TE owning property and household goeds was no guarantee of

security for free blacks, living in a home owned by another man
presented an oven more precarious predicament. When Parker Sel

n 18232, his administrator advertised that he had several

j

died



for rent. A1l the houses were occupied by

free negroes. The landless were presumably ev

to poverty and slavery
cnough, free blacks also had to contend with the sight of slave
buyvers conspicuocusly present in town. The Washington Hotel on the
main street of Princess Anne was the inn for all sorts of

travellers, and slave buvers were no exception. In 1832, WNola
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Stewart offered cash for Negroes, ags did William B. Joneg, Will

oy

J. Boatner, Alexander 8. Jones, Charles Mills, and J.7. Adams - all

o

could be found at 1. S8lave buving was &
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nrofi nd cash was offered on

&

the spot. Some "40-50 negroes™, and a

"Gentleman from Louis laves. Another "planter

o

ana’” wanted to  "purchase 20-30 mnegroes”, and Levin

i

returned from the South wish(ed) to purcha

Collier, "havin:
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Slaveg" . The sale of American-born slaves was big busines: since
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were

also a source of revenue for governments. In 1832, there was a

.

"Sale of @ 30 negroes by order of the Orphan's Court from the

" M -

tate of Alcey and Igsaac Harvis., The administrators of wills

slave owners needing money. The "Sale of slave
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et with their children®” was advertigsed in 1831; and wmen in the

slave labor alsce advertised in the paper.

markel for speci

Robert Pollitt wanted to purchase a "negro woman to serve ags ook

772
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every dav.

owned by stratum.
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ves owned

married

rincess Anne,

Johnston was prominent cit
‘piscopal

good example ¢limbed the

wner and a
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Slaves owned by the Johnstons often married slaves owned by
other preminent members of Somerset County society, and often their
children were baptized in the parish church. Not all of his slaves
chose to have their babieg baptized, and apparently he did not

force them to ad

»re to his own religion. However, when his slaves

Aid have their babies baptized, Johnston and his wife acted as
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godparents, along with the c¢hild's parents. Sometimes
both parents of the baby were noted in the register, as in the

following entryv. In 1858 Johnston's slave Ann had her

baptized and "the father was W.T.G. Polk's slave Isaac". Polk was
another prominent Somerset County resident, a constable,
85

contributor to the Somerset Savings Institution and slaveholder.

The Johnston's had nine c¢hildren, four of whom died as

children. Their cecond child, Susan Upshur Johnston, died at the
age of nine months, the day after her baptism in 1838. Mosgt

interestingly, in 1847, the following entry is found in the parish
ragister: "Susan Upshur Johnston, c¢hild of W.W. Johnston's woman,
was baptized on Aug. 6 at Mr. Jchnston home" . The c¢lergyman

failed to mention the name of Mr. Johnst

-;’“w

but one

wonders about the naming of the slave c¢hild after her master's
deceased daughter. Did William Johnston name the slave child, which

wasg The master's srogative, or did the babv's mother name her own

child?  Tf the mother named the baby, was she touched by the pain

aster and mistress or was she insuring her place in the

household by curryi favor? Of course the record is silent, but

perpetuating a beloved daughter’s name could have been a clever



bhettery treatment

There ig no evidence that Johnston ever manumitted any of his

J.W. Crisfield was a lawver in the county and son-in-law of

Col. Geomo "oy, In 1846 his "zervant Silvia mary the

servant of W.W. Johnston." This entry from the parish register is

Chrigtian ceremony, not merely
slaves from

ies. Another

ruling white families were careful to "marry their own kind", the

3

I
slave members of the family followed the same pattern.:

Another mewmber of the Somerset County avistocracy was Dr.

Henry H nd who was a veteran of the War of 1812, a physician and
justice of the Orphan’'s Court for Somerset County. In 1820 he

and aleo listed Littleton Maddoex, age 30, a

his household. Dr. Hyland had a patronage

relationship with the Maddox family for in 1846 Dr. Hyland's

Hvland, a :iting clergyman, had married

and Henriett: Stewart along with
Zaddok Maddox and Jones. The of church services




James.

hore 1a no

However, there is no manumnission record

for Lititleton Maddex Rut for

oM.
Littleton Maddox for special sponsorship, as attested to by the
land record which showed Hyland granting a deed for 25 acreg of
land (part of "A Little Worth") to Littleton Maddox. White
patronage could serve as powerful insurance for free blacks in a

precarious world.’
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The social and economic dinstability on Maryland's Eastern
Shore in the antebellum period prompted actions and reactions in

every segment of society. White land

investments in land and slaveg were tied to the land and labo

They held on to slavery until the bitter end, trying

1y to keep things "norwmal®, even with the approach of the

Civil War. black to their well-thought-
out justification of s eneficial system. Whites who
were freer to  leave land, 1 de west, out of

bankruptecy toward new horizons. Sowme white slave owners freed
free blacks, while

slaves Turther scuth. For reasons of fear or economy

rvival some whites, fearful of free blacks, used

freedmen to

2very means available to




women, despite every effort to
family ties somehow remained.

waves to cement relationships,

legally. B8lave families visked

i

reunite splintered Often free

s

not altogether free, since in many cases, parv

mes owned by their own relatives.

thelir own segregated

o
5

community, called fanto Domingo, as early as 1820. Perhaps Santo
Domingo can be seen as a colonization project within the state of
Maryviand formed by free blacks themselves. Many free Dblack

families had been in the county since the first settlers came up

from the Eastern Shore of Virginia, and had no degsire to 1«
land of their birth for a foreign countrv. But the promise of
"life, liberty and the pursuilt of happiness"” as held out in the
Declaration of Independence seemed an unattainable coal

1

of racism, and the thwartin of upward mobility by the white

O

majority. Instead of an African colony, the settlers in Santo
Domingo made their own island of safety and mutual assistance in
Somerset County. In large numbers, free blacks could be relatively
assured of safety, communal assistance, family togetherness, and

financial opportunities.
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7. SANTO DCMINGO AND CCLONIZATION

Before the American Revolution the few families 1in
Somerset County had been free for several generations and were

relatively secure farmers either owning their own land or living on

long-term

property. ITn 175% each Maryvland county was
required to take a2 census which polled the number of whites, hoth
free and indentured servants.
and slave, and the number of blacks - both slave and free. In
Somerset County a total of ninetyv-three free blacks or mulattos

In the 1800 census most free blacks

were counted in

white residents. No names of these

the number of "other free

ted who had firvst

ive free hlacks with only first names were shown as heads
of households. If the census data is to be trusted as believable,

ority of the 586 free bhlacks either lived with the

white families for whom thev worked, or the census takers made that

sumption. Free black landowners, then,

in 1800. TIn the same census, 7432 slaves lived in Scmerset County,

9%
"ree blacks.
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in many cases working the same plant:

Trn the 1810 census onlyv three male and eight female free

blacks were shown to be heads of households, with a poepulation in
their of twentv-nine persons. However, when the "all

B4 i i

79



other free personsz" column wasg totaled, 1,054 free blacks appeared.

i

ity of free blacks making a living as self-

] R 1, - . T “q
Cleavly the possibility e

wriers had diminished, because the number o©

}_..A

hlacks had nearly doubled since 1800, and while the number of free

o

s1lack households listed in the census had also doubled, the great

majority of free blacks still lived on the estates of white

CEersons. Although thev were nce longer slaves, most of the free

blacks at the beginning of the nineteenth century were in a gsimilar
position to slaves ve depended on white emplovers for a

livelihood. Census takers obviously connid
he a part of a white household, because that 1is how they were
number of slaves living
in each Hundred of the county, and ¢learly, the number of slaves
wags over five times the number of free blacks. However, the number

of glaves in the county had actually decreaced, from the 7432 in

1800 census, to 6,975 in 1810. Manumissions were having an

cffect on the = population as well as the

population. White landowners were beginning to restructure
working conditions, and depend more and more on the labor of free
black workers. In Somerset County, as opposed to the deep South,
otton was not a viable crop, and grains, which were not labor

, continued to be the major commodity grown. Tobacco also

in importance. Marvland, as a bhorder state,

was on a divergent path from the regst of the Scutherr




~sed with white residents on scattered farms

“

White farmer lived "next door" to black farmer, except for a c¢lue
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in the 1800 census about the formation of a community, wh
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that in the Salisbury District there were "7 Free Negrogs" livinrng in

the same household. However, the 1820 census showed a startling

Aafter another. with no white residents in between, were 106

headed by free blacks. The entire census counted 316
free black heads of household, and nearly half of them lived in

people made 4y

name wags chosen.

Or perhaps the name

was chosen to warn whites away from the area. The slave uprising
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in Santo Domingo in 1790 was notori ‘hroughout the

d., and was used as a watch-word tTo stirx up
wanted to ensure stringent
mere mention of Santo Domingo
murder of whites at the hand of

ominge have been a purposeful

and independence? The Santc

Dominge uprising was well publicized in the Western world, and

el e

Maryland and Virginia received emigrants from the island. During

l;..'



1791, the Virginia assembly Pills to build a new road

-y

leading to a French settlement and te loan the emigrantz T 600 "to
enable them to complete the settlement of their lands". In 1793,
the international situation over the uprising wag still hot,

hecause The Secretary of War,

Knox, sent an urgent message to

Maryland's governor and council:

The Minister has
inhabitants of ¢t Domingo are ¢
expedition from the tefritofy of
support their Accomplice
Opposing the ¢ ituted

ited States to go and
9‘1—111(‘ wvho are s;til
there; 1d that Balt imore
has been point out as the at hhl’h such combinat ions
are tq“Wag place. T am diz &> sir, it 1nform vou that th@
of the United Statez deems the fitting out ﬁf
1 vy expeditions from any of the ports of the Uni
States as unlawful... aml he rvequests that vou will ples

take the necessary measures accordingly, and report th
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:tern Shore had c¢lose contacts with

{

1e Baltimore maritime trade, and many had access Lo newspapers, so

that it dis not unlikely that some Somerset free

T the historic events which had pushed Santo Domingo to

tional news.
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the forefyront of

here is no official reference to "Santo Domingo" in early

Salisbury
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county recor the area being part of the
south of the Nanticoke River, stretching to the Sharptown area.
Several free blacks bought land in the district in 1820 from a man

named Levin Bailey. He sold parts of "Taylor's Addition", lying on

the south eide of the Nanticoke River to Betgyv Dutton, Rose Anthony

,-]-

and James Brown. Bailey also sold other parts of the game act to

Betay Tavlor

S i

sart of "Tayvler's Additicn” to the
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Radley




accumutate

his sonsg Leonard and Bvard
father's death. The Bradley (or Badley) family sold several tracts

of land to the Brown family, one of which was "Tower Hill". The

rowns then =sold or to other free black familiesz

attracted to the area. In the 1822 tax records, three free blacks
s Addition". James Brown

owned parts of the original "Tavlor

f owned five acres, John Moore owned six and one-half acres,
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and Rose Anthony =2til

s . - 4= 1 - = Vo . b~ € £y T -
1 owned hexr fifteen. Brown's subgcequent

purchas an additional thirtyv-two acres of "Tavlor

added to his expanding rveal es
line Brown acquired part of "Baker's Folly" {the land record is

unclear as to when) which he deeded to one of the first black

HiM

Methodist churches in the county.'’

Earlier in the ntury, other free blacks had also purchased

land in the "Santo Domingo" area. On December 6, 1817, Matilda

H

NDashiell, a free black woman who was 65 yvears old, paid $45 to buy

1 1/2 acres of "Evan's Purchacge" from Gowan White. The land was

gituated on the zoutheast side of the Nanticoke River on the corner

of the geller's land. In the 1820 census, Matilda Dashiell was

shown to be the head of a consisting of five free Dblacks

in the Santo Domingo settlement, The 1823 tax list valued her

.
b

house and lot at §30, considerabhly less than the 545 she had paid

for the land alone. In 1832

household with anothi=r Matilda Dashiell who was 39,

women and vet another Matilda Dashiell who wasg 12



great pride in perpetuating the name.

Tn 1816 the Badley (or Bradley) family also sold ten acres of

land on the south side of the Nanticoke River to another free black

man, Stephen Dutton, who was 36 vears old. For $120 "all the high

drowned by the mill" on "Badley's Lott" became the
property of Duttomn. Tn the 1823 tax list his 10 3/4 acres of
"Badley's Lott" was taxed at a value of $55 - less than halfl the

who owned 2

amount he paid for it a few

horses, 1 voke of steers, 3 was obviously a

with his wife Polly.-‘"

e farmer

Stephen Dutton was a member of a large family, free by long
standing. Several of them were also land owners in the district.
Mary Dutton had bheen cne of the few mulatto women to register her

son Stephen's birth with Stepney Parish officis
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phen was the father of the owner of "Badlev

Dutton bought land din 1814, and Betsy Dutton
purchased another part of "Tavloer's Addition" from Levin Bailey in

1820. Jeveral

of the Dutton family registered with the

county for their freedom certificates in the 1820's and 1830's, and

’D

Af

. 195
all were listed as "born free™ .-
Of the 106 families living in Santo Domingo in the 1820

census, at least fifteen owned either a house and lot or larger

acreage. Stephen Wright, one of only three free blacks in the 1800

census, owned 135 acres in the 1823 tax ssegesment , comprised of

4

parts of three larger tracts of land. Wright was fiftyv-two vears
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old and in

to the land owned a voke of steers, eight
cattle, eilght sheep and ten hogs, making him a fairly well-off
self-sufficient farmer. (Hogsn, sheep and cattle were common stock
animals for small farmers to own, and allowed for their ow:

sroduction of meat, milk, cheesne,

could pull the plows.) The 1820 census had listed eight free

blacks in Wright'=s , of whom was engaged in some sort

on more acreage than
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of manufacturing. Wrigt

any single
Wright had purchased his land lving on the south side of the
Nanticoke in 1804 from Belitha and Mary Anne Wright for $200. The

deed was very carceful to note the previous land transactions

land had origine
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James and Betty Reed; then Matthew Wright and Maryv Anne Dutton, who
was now Mary Anne Wright, received
Sftephen and Belitha Wright were most probably related, bhecause

Stephen had sold land to Belitha in 1796, which Stephen had
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ssed from Levin Pollitt. The Dutton family had obviously

in land in Somerset County for many vears. In the 1832

of free blacks, Stephen Wright was noted as being G
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of age: hiis wife Matilda. 57, and several children and

nade up the

George Mosley was alsc a land owner in Santo Domingo,

vart of the tract known as "High

Suffolk™, Tn the 1823 tax list, the seventy-one-vear-old Mosley

ey 5 ey e A B i e ~ T -1 Ty v a1y +
also owned two cattle, thirteen hogs, sleven sheen,



zteers, three beds and $30 worth of additional personal
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white land-owners were taxed on zimilar

owned considerably less.™V

Qe

enumerated in the 1822

A~

tax reccrds owned ten acres of land or less, with Wright and Mosely

of household living in Santo Domingo presumably rented land

homes or were tenant farmers. Many who did not

own horses, catile, sheep. hogs and steers,

heds,

personal property. One home-owner,. Cutter Townsend, was taxed on

a silver watch, a walnut table and four oz. of gilver p

ot owned by

at a later date.

stood the freedman

in good stead, in the 1820 census was listed
engaging fTive members of his houscehold i some s0rt of

i unique about Cuttery Townsend's census entry

that he had living in his houszehold, in addition to two free




hlack males between 14 and 26, two ite voung men, one
between 10 and 16, and the other between 16 and 26. Perhaps Cutter

which he had learned; but it

Townsend was
ig unusual for white apprentices to be taught by a black artisan.

Recause Cutter Townsend was successful at his trade, he became a
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slave owner himself, but in 1820 and 1821 he freced two of
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women with the ph "being convinced in wmy judgment that it

Con

T

rary both te the will and word of Almighty God for any person

to hold his fellc ire in perpetual bondage. . .", almost the

his own manumi on.*’
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exact phrase which had
Ephriam Nutter had at one time been a slave of W.T.CG. Polk,

one of the countyv's elite, who mentioned Ephriam Nutter in his

will, When Polk

ad Nutter is not clear, because in 1813 Ephriam

Nutter had been manumitted by Charles Nutter for the price of $350.

Fphriam had been described as thirty-

support himself. In any case, Ephriam purchased in 1821

of land called "Waggaman's Purvchase” from the same Levin Bailev who

5

so0ld James Brown hisg land. Previously, in 1819, Ann Bavly had sold

,...

to Fphriam Nutter for $200 a forty vear-old woman slave named
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Father apd Eszthe
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z ten month-old c¢hild Elizabeth. Tmmediately

upon his purchase of the woman and her daughter Ephriam freed them

w0

both. They were his wife and daughter. In Ephriam Nutter's 184

., in which he named Polk to be his executor, he left the 1

~
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to his wife Esther, but two of hig four c¢hildren were slaves. A

son still belonged to Mr. Polk and a daughter was the slave o©

.

Isaac Covington two other

were married







Levin RBoggs, a free

County deed books in 1820, followed the custom of many while slave

a2t wvarious intervalsg. He

owners
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because he

apparen

and hig daughters Jane the day the deed was recorded,

s other childr
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were to be freed at the ac
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Although Levin Boggs had a large family of eight children, he had

been freed by William Boggs only fifteen years earlier.
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the two. But to his wife Hannah, Waters left all
his personal property and a commodity apparently within his power

Hannah

eath. Adam
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was a 45 vear-old man at the time of the 1832 census of free blacks

in Somerset County, =so in the ranks

black citizens of the county. The incidence of black men

owning their family members, but not freef
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family members have over freeing them? Was

[,

t a matter of

power or c¢ontrol? Or did the desire to fit into the role model of




hlack man ramed Levin Bluett entered into the indenture made

between William Williams and Roderick Hearlan, a free black man.

Hearlan was to Williams for twenty vyears, with

lodging
and washing. But the uncommon element was that Williams agreed
that if Levin Bluelt could at any time during the term of indenture
pay Williams 5200, Hearlan would be freed from the bond
immediately. No indication was given in the official decument as
to the relationship between Bluett and Hearlan, but one would

suspect some sort of kinsghip ties existed between the two men .

A interesting incident was illustrated in the transacticn

Levi Ward, another free bLlack man, and Amelia Sterling. In
June of 1821 Ward purchased "the negro Amelia" and her c¢hild frowm
Aaron Sterling for $350, and immediately manumitted both Amelia and

her son Calvin Lawrenson. But in an unusual move, in October of

e same vear Amelia Sterling entered into an indenture with Levi

ihing herself as "a free black woman", Amelia bound

=

Ward. Descr
herself to work for Ward until she paid hack the expenses he had
incurred by buving her. But the dignity of the act may be slightly

tarnished by the fact that Amelia agreed to pay off £70, a
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of the purchase price. 8Still, this action of paying pack the price

of frecedom was rare in the Somerset County deed books. Perhaps

Awmelia fBlterling had mad the arrvangements with Ward as a

HR AN

ondition of her release from slavery.-

Ancther free bHlack man who had accumitlated more than ten acres

of land in the early part of the nineteenth was Haryy



investigating his will written in 1833, it can be deduced that
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children and be

of Managers of
v the Governor
transporting
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by blacks to establish an African homeland

American Colonization Society

tain Paul Cuffee, a half-black, half-Indian
~te, took thirty-eight

~one in 1815, but

his influence with black religiousg leaders wag more

stom Jones, who had
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a new homeland Tor vo




inequities livecd

foed

every day by many free blacks, moving te an

Afvican free homeland seemed a2 logical solution to Americe

For the vyear 1832 the state of Mary!
$20,000.00 to remove all free blacks who were willing to resettle
Shore of Maryland had active

Colonization sociebties, Newspapers carried notices of theiv

and plang. Tnn September of 1832

Whittington announced to "friends of African Colo

- "o,

11 sail for sometime between now and 1 Nov"; and later in
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the same vear a group of subscribers adopted a resolution to ". .

. furnish to:
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The general Negro act of 1715 sanctioned the use of ps

slaves who were onh errands for their masters

many free Dblacks secured papers from the courts or their
manumitters which identified thewm as free persons. But the

such passes prompted the state assembly to pass
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1 act which made the
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county court, the magistrate. The

intended to travel within the
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county or within and outside the state to cavry a certificate of

they were aot To ensure

sell or careful
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prtiong of the certificate owners were madoe. When the free

black persaon
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were carefully noted
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shing features and any ¢
certificate. Proof of freedom wag also required. A manumission

or search of court records to verify the manumission was

expected of freed slaves. Those bhorn of a free wother were

,"n

required to either have a witness who could testify to the
petitioner's freedom, or prove to the c¢lerk that he or she had

"acted as a free person”™, and that no one had ever claimed

always
that he or she was a slave. People who had been free fovr vears,

people who had been born free and pecople whoese families had been

o

¥

free for over a century all were rvequired to obtain frecdom

HR R

certificates or risk jail and sale into slavery. -’
In 1821 <harity Birkhead was given her freedom certificate,
Her former owner William Birkhead testified that Charity had been

left to him by his mother for a term of years and that term wasg

8]

scribe

@
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as 57 2" tall, dark brown of
complexion, and twenty-nine yvears of age. She had a "large scar on
jer of her left hand, which she
broad axe". 1In the 1832 census of

savs was caused by the cut of a

and the wife of

blacks she wag listed as forty vears of

Charles Birkhead who was sixty-three vears old. Their children
were Levin (17), Sandy (16), Henrv (10), Noah (8), and Moseg (7).

Tn the 1840 census there were nine free blacks in the Birkhead

el
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family, excert that the census-taker gpel frame as

Brickhead. Interestingly, Charityv's owner was named Birkhead, as

.

Was there a relationship between Charles and

5]
I



Charity, on the Birkhead family farm, before

marriage? Was Charles also a Birkhead slave? -

The ¢lerks who recorded the freedom certificates were very

careful to record name, height, appearvance and descriptive scars

and features of freedmen, so it seems odd that so may certificates
woere lssued to free blacks showin v a first name. Nearly one-

third of the certificates indicate no family name of the recipient.

onn the part of the c¢lerk, or were

known by first name only, asg they

white woman, bright mulattsc in

" - R e e 3 A
a surname if his

complexion, has long bushy hair would DoOsse
mother had been a white woman. Many former slaves who had been

free for over twenty vears by 1832 were listed by given-name only.

Even Esther, age fifty-five, who had been freed by George Gale in

1810, did not use a surname in 1832, when gshe was issued

o

freedom papers, nor did her son John who wasgs twenty-one vears of
age. More questions than answers surface concerning the practice.

The 1832 census of free blacks in the county cited first and last

names of all but a handful of the 2,238 "free persons of color™.

issuing freedom certificates during precisely

the same time frame refer to such large numbers of free blacks as

or "Negro Bob"? Perhaps it was the white official's

way of demeaning the black freedman and placing him in the same

(S}

. . I}
slaves who possessed no family names.-*
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Some descyiptions given on the certificates of

by free bhlacks were so detailed that a portrait of the

be A man with the appropriate name of

reeborn Allen was described in detail by the clevk:

‘le, of a dark brown complexion,
asant countenance. gScar on the

mouth from his e caused by
scar on the big 1

{:
P ~ 7 4 ¥
uwpper lip, having b

Age 25, was born free.

of a healthy appearance

left cheek, to the covner
4 P

sewn up.’

Igsaac Havward's degscription inciuded a scar rarely found on person

acquiring a freedom certificate, one from a vaccination. His other
identifving features included more common scars from burns and a
scar left by a broken leg. Some people displaved marks from dog

Lites, having been thrown by a horse, smallpox, scalds, cuts by

Eknives, oyvster shells and hcoes, many such accidents having happened

p

i

as children.

()

Not many of the Santo Domingo residents went into the county

seat of Princess Anne to obtain freedem certificates. It was a

long way into town, over twenty miles, and even today
forty-five minutes via major voads. Perhaps their community was so
L ES 4

to wander outs

u ]

‘,.,1 .

they had little

-.x
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no need for a certificate of freedom.

4

have been business o "72le who of necessity

travelled within the county. or those who werked in the homes of
white emplovers. James Brown. who was a successful businessman

Aid not bother to obtain =z freedom certificate until

1822. Perhaps the social climate in

securs their

well-known f£1

(RSN
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tall and
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of his left hand His daughter Harrvriet, who was his oldest child,
zlao obtained her certificate at the age of nineteen in 1836. She

wags described as H' 5" tall and born of a free coleored woman. Her
"high cheek bones, sharp chin and downcast look" may have indicated
an attractive voung woman who

obtaining a paper to

More women than men came ificates.
Perhaps 1t was necegssary for the women to do work ocutside their

S e T vy e P
staics seamstrecs

laundresses for white families. One free black woman who may have

resented bheing forced to carry freedom papers was sixty vear
Esther Johnson. When she registered in 1832 she was described as

a4 Somerset County native, and the daughter of a free colored woman

5172 tall. A dark copper c¢oler, Esther had lost

the firet joint of the middle fingery on the vight hand and had a

her talk", perhaps indicating her

It is difficult to ascertain the occupations of many of the

records of
Somerset County. Occasionally a reference was made to the trade or
occupation of a free black person, but more often only inferences
1ave to be made. The ¢ase of Ephriam Conway is an obvious one,

because hig occupation was mentioned in his manunission. Hig owner

Flias Robhertson freed Conway "for divers good

96
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certainly earn his own

- . . . . . S ~
Many Tfree blacks worked sort of

A Ascemrainttano mrn T emwiy Daoylroe !
o degeriptions., Tt was noted on Levin Parks

H

toenail was deformed be

been "hacked off on bhoard of a ve ;o and Robert Wallace's thivd

finger on his right hand

James Selby was to be given a set of shoemakers tools when he was
released from slavery, and we have already seen free blacks
employed as doctors, fTarmers, seamstresses, and manufacturers.

What was being manufactured and sold within the confines of

Santo Domingo is impossible to determine, but there were a number

»f people in the community engaged in manufacturing and commerce
In the 1820 census, Santo Domingo was counted in the first election

Aistrict of Somerset County, which included the communities west of

ot

There were §,564 people living in that district,

which included 2,687 white persons, 2,224 slaves and 655 free black
persons. Nearly ten percent of the entire population of that

digtrict was free bhlack and living in Santo Domingo. Twentyv-five

the free black community were engaged in some sort of

fifteen in manufacturing, compared to a total of 264
in commerce and 228 in manufacturing in the whole district.
¢e in the election district took

the manufacturing. There were
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several grist and saw mills south of



sumed that some of the free black residents worked there.

ac Cutter Townsend, emploved several people in his

manufacturing business. Small manufact:

obvious need, as was the work of blacksmiths. Other manufacturing

coffins, leather tanning,

y1el, hats and gloves, candles, soaDb or sausage. General stores

were needed tco supply the needs of regidents, and James Brown and

his sons carried orn that commerce for many yvears.

of James Brown and his

Particular mention must be ma

ontributions to the formation of the community of "Santo Domingo".

The beginnings of Brown's 1ife rewmaln shrouded in mystery,

despilte the folklore surrounding him. Some stories related that he

H
r

came to the Sharptown area of Somerset County from Jamaica in the

date since he died in 1858.

Other sources state that he was a shipwright and married his wife
Clizabeth from neighboring Dorchester Countv. There certainly was
a James Brown, a shipwright, who, along with his wife Sarah, sold
and in 1768, but there was no indication that these people wore

free bhlacks; probably this particular James Brown has been

ed with the Santo Domingo settler, who was not born until

fond

792, The only certain facts known about Brown were ascertained

information entered ori his freedom certificate, izsued in

e

from the

icate stated that he was forty yvears of age at the

son of a "free woman of color"™, and a native of

Somerset County. Therefore, it is certain that he was born in 1792
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his mother was algso a free black citizen:

unkrown.
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nty was commissioned to take a census of

purpose of determining which of thew

|

to Liberia. In that census, in which

the v began in Santo Dowmi
was the fifth family polled. There
and fenales, and James and his sons Leonard and Byard

enumerated on the firs page of the Male Coloured people of

of "Females

¢ Addition" in

James Bradlevy,

Lson and Betsy Dutton, a free bhlack woman) were late

fay]

Y
i

added to his acreage. Not enumerated, however, 1in the land

owned "Baker's Folly"”
and the remaining eight acres of

Methodist

h, which hisg family

The ownership of "Baker's Folly" may

Brown's unknown ancestr

Tn 1755 a man named George Brown bought the seventv-five acre

tract of “ta Folly" from Thomaz Huffington. The land was
i o . p o . - T Ny b 4ol o TN Ee oy e s o 1, 4
aituated on the east cide of the Nanticoke River, in the area that
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was to become Santo Domningo. ot
Mariro
larine
in the

county tax lists on that land din 1756 and 1757 in
Nanticoke Hundred. TIn 1762 George Brown deeded "Baker's Feolly" to

William Marine, and thereafter the piece of land changed hands

by}

several times. At he end of the eighteenth century "Baker's

Folly" became the property of Thomas Bradlev, a member of one of

the families 1in the Sharptown area

blacks. Perhaps George Brown,

mid-1750"s was a velative of Jam grandfather,

Bradley was persuaded to sell the land back into the

Brown family. However the land came into the hands of James Brown

he insurved that it staved in his

Byard in the wmid-nineteenth century: Bvard in turn
of the wvarious pieces of property to his cisters
190

PRSI

white families in the Sharptown area were instrumental

community of Santo Domingo. The Badley (also called
in sounthern Sussex County, Delaware, and
o area of Somerset County, which areas are
Various family members sold land to several
"Tower Hill" to James Brown, and part of

visg Lott" to Stephen Dutton.

100



acres from the Baillevs also. Members of the

his wife and child. Washington Melson sold fortv-seven acres of
"Robertson's Swamp" to James Brown, and he had apparently kKnown the

Joent with James Brown'

sply for her fireedon

T

iet to be the daughter of

of the county, and that the
said Betsy Brown has always acted as a free woman." Therefore the

white families who themselves lived in the same area in whic

were selling land to many free blacks, were obviously not

atened by the thought of a community of free blacks living in

their "back vard". They encouradged their settlement, and acted as

patrons when legal problems reqguiring white interference was

. 199

recuired.**
James Brown died din 1859, and hig estate was probated in

. had apparvently

died, because his widow was named Lyvdia in the estate proceedings

ed her one-third perticn, and his children received their

%
¥

L
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Hig sons Leonatrd and Byvard's sharve was $36.60 apiece.
Hin eldest daughter Harriet had apparently died at a fairly early

age, because she was not mentioned in the settlement.

Ardilla had marryied a man named Moore, and was probably alread
widow by 1859, Eliza Ann was the wife of James Game, to whom James
1

Brown had so0ld ten acres of tand in the middle of the nineteenth

century. Tminaline had married Washington Hopkins, and Mary, the



toed John Moluck., The children all lived on the land they had

23 to be active 1in th
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Methodist Church. James
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children were buried in

grave is surrounded by an iron fence,

and he

wife Marv and daughter Margareta. His

wife Mariah's grave is also surrvrocunded by the same sort of
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11la, and Elizabeth abound in
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The phenomencnn of a free black world which
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with slavery and a majority white societ was a fagcinating and

. Maintaining independence in a predominantiy
rural culture required carveful wmanagement of assetg, especially by
free blacks in an unstable economic periocd. While marginal white
farmers could fall into bankruptey, unsucceszsful free blacks risked

1ling into slavery. To help ensure success and to find strength

in like pecples, a large group of free blacks organized their own

Sedr community as early as 1820. The original property

in Santo Domingo all purchased their land; the land was not

te them by former owners or by we

could bhe proud that their community was independently

Some slaves were able to work apart from the supervision of

their masters (o wages work, and by
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money could

WOL

purchage

their

}

obtali
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ned in

households for their livelihcod. Did these freedmen also m

the freedom of other family The deeds of manumission are

not gpecific in many cases about who paid the master the money for

slaves ' freedom, and it is known that free family members paid the
for others 1in the fawmily still enslaved. Some of the

freedmen were successful in purchasing their own land with the

money they earyned and

made up the bulk of occupations of free blacks in
society, but soeme forwer slaves had been trained as
shoemakers, and ¢ . Many women still did

© o
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for white

WOrk

arwomen ., and

WE

ies, cooka, sed
wousemaids. The econowmic poc

limited for free blacks, but somehow even the
pogsibilities did not stop the free black community from
its goal of independence and success in a white

the

world.

antebellum

blacksmithg,

domestic

mstresses,
sibilities
shrinking

=
attempting

The

a many-tiered society arve difficult to unravel, and

cf searchers look at the same records again and

again new guestions are asked, new slants are gilven to old
evidence, and new answers arve sought to old questions. History
a vibrant study of opeople who live in the records,

wille, deeds and registers; and those ople come alive din the
of scholars who research and students of their
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